UCLA UCLA Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

The Impact of GLP-1 Analog, Exenatide, on The Resting Brain of Lean vs Obese Women

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/4zt480d8

Author Coveleskie, Kristen

Publication Date 2016

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

Los Angeles

The Impact of GLP-1 Analog, Exenatide, on The Resting Brain of Lean vs Obese Women

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree Doctor of

Philosophy in Molecular, Cellular and Integrative Physiology

By

Kristen Coveleskie

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

The Impact of GLP-1 Analog, Exenatide, on The Resting Brain of Lean vs Obese Women

by

Kristen Coveleskie

Doctor of Philosophy in Molecular, Cellular and Integrative Physiology University of California, Los Angeles, 2016 Professor Emeran Mayer, Chair

Obesity is a growing problem both in The United States and world-wide and women in The United States have the highest mean body mass index (BMI) of high-income countries. Brain imaging studies have provided great insights in the interplay between the gut and the brain in regulation of human ingestive behavior, allowing for the exploration of complex signaling in the brain related to appetite-stimulating cues. Obesity has been viewed as a disruption of the balance between homeostatic processing for energy needs and hedonic processing involved in the rewarding value of food, but these brain differences have yet to be fully examined when it comes to the brain's resting state.

The primary aims of this dissertation were to explore the differences in homeostatic and hedonic brain networks in obese women using resting state techniques to compare frequency oscillations and functional connectivity with lean women at a baseline state and then to determine if functional connectivity would be altered by a variant of a known satiety hormone, GLP-1. In additional, to compare these brain abnormalities with behavioral measures related to appetite. This dissertation also includes a preliminary study examining the impact of high and low calorie beverages on hedonic and homeostatic networks of lean vs obese women while viewing pictures of food which pointed to key abnormalities of the obese woman's brain and an

ii

obese-only discrepancy between brain activations and behavioral measures related to subjective feelings of fullness and appetite.

Our analyses at baseline indicated differences in hedonic regions for overweight and obese women, centering around a key region of reward, the nucleus accumbens which was shown to have an increase in grey matter volume as well as altered frequency distributions in the higher BMI group. Functional connectivity of the nucleus accumbens with other regions in the hedonic network was observed to be greater in the more obese group, a brain pattern also observed in many forms of addiction. Upon injection of the GLP-1 analog, Exenatide, functional connectivity was observed to increase more so in the obese group between key homeostatic regions centered around the Nucleus Tractus Solitaries (NTS). This drug-induced increase in functional connectivity was correlated with an increase of hunger in all subjects but more so in the obese. These results support the notion that Exenatide has an impact on brain connectivity, particularly in the obese and suggest the drug's influence on appetite control might be linked to modified connectivity of an NTS-based network.

This dissertation of Kristen Coveleskie is approved.

Jamie Donald Feusner Ronald M. Harper Charalabos Pothoulakis Nancy L. Wayne Emeran Mayer, Committee Chair

University of California, Los Angeles

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER ONE

Background: Obesity and the Brain	
The Obesity Problem	2
Obesity and The Brain: Homeostatic vs Hedonic Drives	2
The Homeostatic Network and the NTS	3
Hedonic Network and The Nucleus Accumbens	4
Dysregulation of Homeostatic and Hedonic Networks in Obesity	5
References	7

CHAPTER TWO

Manuscript: Differences in Brain Responses Between Lean and Obese Women to a Sweetened Drink (published Neurogastroenterol Motil 2013

Abstract	11
Introduction	12
Materials and Methods	13
Results	19
Discussion	21
Tables	27
Figures	30
References	33

CHAPTER THREE

Background: Using Resting MRI to Study Obesity

Overview	38
Oscillatory Dynamics of the Resting Brain	38
Functional Connectivity	
Obesity and The Resting Brain	
Figures	41

∠	41

CHAPTER FOUR

Manuscript: Altered Functional Connectivity within the Central Reward Network in Overweight and Obese Women (published Nutrition & Diabetes, 2015)

Abstract	44
Introduction	45
Methods and Materials	47
Results	53
Discussion	55
Tables	61
Figures	65
References	68

CHAPTER FIVE

Background: The Impact of Satiety Hormones on the Brain

The Role of the Gut Brain Axis in Ingestive Behavior	76
GLP-1/Exenatide and The Brain	76
GLP-1	76
Exenatide	77
Exenatide Pharmacokinetics	78
References	79

CHAPTER SIX

Manuscript: The Effect of the GLP-1 Analogue Exenatide on Functional Connectivity within an NTS-Based Network in Lean and Obese Females

Abstract	
Introduction	
Methods	94
Mothodo	

Results	
Discussion	
Tables	97
Figures	104
References	109

CHAPTER SEVEN

General Conclusions, Major Limitations and Future Perspectives

General Conclusions	114
Dysregulation of Homeostatic and Hedonic Networks in Obesity	114
Parallels Between Obesity and Addiction	116
Using the Brain in Clinical Assessment and Treatment of Obesity	118
Study Limitations	119
Future Perspectives	120
Looking at Resting State Changes in Bariatric Surgery	121
References	122

DEGREES AWARDED

Bryn Mawr College Bachelor of Arts, Biology May 2006 Magna Cum Laude Thesis: PPARd Receptor in Skeletal Muscle and its Implications in Obesity Reduction

VITA

POSTER PRESENTATIONS

- 2011 MCIP Retreat
- 2012 MCIP Retreat
- 2012 Digestive Disease Week
- 2013 Society for Neuroscience
- 2013 CNS Symposium
- 2013 MCIP Retreat
- 2014 Society for Neuroscience
- 2014 CNS Symposium
- 2014 MCIP Retreat
- ORAL PRESENTATIONS
- 2009 Digestive Disease Week
- 2010 CNS Symposium
- 2010 CNS Translational Seminar
- 2011 CNS Symposium
- 2014 CNS Translational Seminar
- 2015 Digestive Disease Week

PUBLICATIONS

<u>Coveleskie K</u>, Gupta A, Kilpatrick LA, Mayer ED, Ashe-McNalley C, Stains J, Labus JS, Mayer EA. Altered functional connectivity within the central reward network in overweight and obese women. Nutr.Diabetes. 2015 Jan 19; 5: e148

Kilpatrick LA, <u>**Coveleskie K**</u>, Connolly L, Labus JS, Ebrat B, Stains J, Jiang Z, Suyenobu B, Raybould HE, Tillisch K, Mayer EA Influence of sucrose ingestion on brainstem and hypothalamic intrinsic oscillations in lean and obese women. Gastroenterology 2014 May; 146(5): 1212-21.

Labus JS, Gupta A, <u>**Coveleskie K**</u>, Tillisch K, Kilpatrick L, Jarcho J, Feier N, Bueller J, Stains J, Smith S, Suyenobu B, Naliboff B, Mayer EA. Sex differences in emotion-related cognitive processes in irritable bowel syndrome and healthy control subjects. Pain. 2013 Oct;154(10):2088-99

Connolly L and <u>Coveleskie K</u>, Kilpatrick LA, Labus JS, Ebrat B, Stains J, Jiang Z, Tillisch K, Raybould HE, Mayer EA. Differences in brain responses between lean and obese women to a sweetened drink. Neurogastroenterol Motil. 2013 Jul;25(7):579-e460

Yamaleyeva LM, Neves LA, <u>**Coveleskie K**</u>, Diz DI, Gallagher PE, Brosnihan KB. AT1, AT2, AT1-7 receptor expression in the uteroplacental unit of normotensive and hypertensive rats during early and late pregnancy. Placenta. 2013 Jun;34(6):497-502

Kilpatrick LA, Labus JS, <u>**Coveleskie K**</u>, Hammer C, Rappold G, Tillisch K, Bueller JA, Suyenobu B, Jarcho JM, McRoberts JA, Niesler B, Mayer EA. The HTR3A polymorphism c -42C>T is associated with amygdala responsiveness in patients with irritable bowel syndrome. Gastroenterology. 2011 Jun; 140(7); 1943-51.

CHAPTER ONE

Background: Obesity and the Brain

The Obesity Problem

In many parts of the industrialized world, obesity has reached epidemic proportions. In the United States, thirty four percent of the populations is obese, and an additional 34% is considered overweight(1). Women in the United States have the highest mean Body Mass Index (BMI) of any high income country(2). Obesity-attributable medical expenditures related to the metabolic syndrome and other associated diseases reached \$75 billion in the US in 2003(3). Even with the billion-dollar diet industry, long-term weight loss results with dieting have been disappointing. Despite extensive research into possible targets for drug development, only surgical interventions, including gastric bypass surgeries, have shown persistent benefits(4). Due to the high personal and financial burden resulting from obesity, the study of its causes, physiological mechanisms, and potential treatments has become an increasingly important goal of the research community.

Obesity and The Brain: Homeostatic vs Hedonic Drives

Overview

Brain imaging studies in human subjects have made it possible to study the interplay between the gut and the brain in regulation of human ingestive behavior. These techniques have allowed us to elaborate beyond self-report and behavioral responses to look at structural and functional aspects of brain activity with increasing specificity. Ingestive behavior is the integrated response to interoceptive signals, emotion, cognition and reward processes. Alterations in the gut brain interactions and resulting changes in ingestive behavior have been observed in the context of anxiety and depression, as well as in clinical disorders such as functional gastrointestinal and eating disorders(5, 6). Food intake is subject to intense regulation by homeostatic and hedonic systems. Homeostatic feeding is driven by nutritional or caloric deficiency and involves neuronal signaling from the GI tract to the nucleus of the solitary tract (NTS), hypothalamus, thalamus and posterior insula, known as the primary interoceptive cortex(5, 7). In contrast, hedonic feeding is driven primarily by engagement of central reward circuitry including the nucleus accumbens, amygdala, and orbitofrontal, prefrontal, anterior cingulate, and anterior insular cortices(5, 7). Distinct, but overlapping brain networks are thought to regulate the interplay between these two mechanisms.

The Homeostatic Network and the NTS

The nucleus tractus solitaries (NTS) is a region of the dorsal brainstem that is involved in autonomic processes related to the regulation of cardiovascular, respiratory, and gastrointestinal activities(8). As a primary target of vagal afferents from the gut, the NTS is said to be a key region in regulating homeostatic processing related to hunger and satiety (9, 10). The NTS alone can be responsible for short term satiety-related behaviors (11), and disruption of the connection between the gut and the NTS results in a marked change in eating behavior(12).

The NTS is also a relay station between the body and the rest of the brain, communicating with regions involved in higher level processing in relation to emotional regulation or sensations of hunger. Bi-directional neuronal projections between the NTS and the hypothalamus have been well studied in terms of their influence on sympathetic activities, and the connection between these two regions is thought to play a role in integrating peripheral signals from hormones in regulation of satiety (13). The lateral hypothalamus, in particular, is known as a center for metabolic regulation, with two different sets of neurons either stimulating or restricting eating

behaviors(14). The hypothalamus is a brain region involved in learning, memory, emotion, motivation, and motor responses that all play a role in long-term energy homeostasis(14).

The NTS also communicates with the thalamus. In particular, the paraventricular region of the thalamus receives glutamatergic signals from the NTS that motivate food-seeking behaviors (15, 16). Also, both the NTS and thalamus play a role communicating behavior related to taste (7). The thalamus is another relay station where neuronal input goes on to interact with sensory and interoceptive regions like the insula to create a conscious perception of hunger and taste and feelings of fullness (12). All of these interactions can contribute to both body homeostasis and regulation of eating behaviors.

Hedonic Network and The Nucleus Accumbens

The nucleus accumbens is a region of the ventral striatum that is often referred to as the center for reward or craving in the brain, as it plays a crucial role in coordinating responses to rewarding stimuli. Dopaminergic neurons from the ventral tegmental area (VTA) project to the nucleus accumbens, which stimulates the release of dopamine in response to rewarding stimuli (17). The nucleus accumbens and its influence on dopamine release have been very well studied in relation to reward associated with drug addiction, but the parallels between drug intake and food intake, while suggested, have not been as clearly defined (7, 18).

Region-specific studies have suggested that the nucleus accumbens is involved in processes related to motivation associated with food intake(19) and there is a theory that individual differences in the response of the nucleus accumbens to food cues may be one of the main reasons for obese individuals to show addictive-like behavior, and consequently gain weight (20).

The nucleus accumbens is not solely responsible for the rewarding response to food. The region is involved in a complicated series of bi-directional glutamatergic, dopaminergic and GABAergic innervations between regions such as the amygdala, hippocampus, prefrontal cortices, and anterior cingulate cortex, which work together to determine hedonic response (17). The amygdala and hippocampus are involved with emotional processing and memory and have been linked to food craving (21), the insula is involved in self-reflection and perception, and activation of this region has been associated with the viewing of food images(22), prefrontal cortices are involved in executive control functions, and the anterior cingulate cortex has been linked to compulsivity and lack of control in food intake (23). This network of regions interacts together in the brain to determine and motivate a rewarding response to food.

Dysregulation of Homeostatic and Hedonic Networks in Obesity

While anyone can appreciate varying responses to food based on energy or reward-based needs, studies have suggested a dysregulation of homeostatic and hedonic networks associated with obesity. Structurally, BMI correlates positively with grey matter volume (GMV) in the medial orbitofrontal cortex, hypothalamus, and left putamen(24). Several studies have also identified increases in GMV of the nucleus accumbens in obese subjects in comparison to lean subjects, as well as in subjects who have increased eating behaviors, but similar BMI compared to control subjects(24, 25). It has been suggested that obesity-related structural differences may be a consequence of increased signaling from adipose tissue to the brain(24).

Generally, functional studies have suggested that the obese population relies less on the homeostatic system to regulate food intake. Obese people paradoxically have a decreased level of ghrelin, which is responsible for initiating eating behavior, and normal levels of other peptides (such as leptin) responsible for terminating eating behavior(26). These findings have led some

authors to propose that obese subjects are hyposensitive to, or resistant to homeostatic/interoceptive signals.

In another study in which participants consumed all of their food as a liquid from a concealed dispenser, it was found that lean subjects adjusted their intake to changes in energy density (responding normally to a homeostatic signal), while obese subjects failed to regulate their energy intake through interoceptive mechanisms, again suggesting deficits in homeostatic regulatory mechanisms(27). Thus, the homeostatic network may be more important in regulating eating behavior in lean subjects. Obese subjects might override these physiological signals of hunger and satiety by the greater engagement of the central reward system(28). These findings provide evidence that obese subjects have increased engagement in the hedonic network compared to lean controls. For instance, hunger increases the response of midbrain, amygdala, and ventral striatum to the sight of food(29). Activation of this network is increased in obese compared to lean women(30, 31).

The overarching thesis might be that in lean individuals, homeostatic and hedonic systems interact in a self-regulatory manner in order to produce optimal behavior that results in adequate food intake to keep body weight stable. However, in obese subjects it has been suggested that hedonic mechanisms may override homeostatic control of food intake, resulting in food intake beyond energy requirements(5). Much more work needs to be done to tease out the details, but the concept of obesity as an imbalance of homeostatic and hedonic brain networks seems a good framework to reference.

References

- 1. Flegal KM, Carroll MD, Ogden CL, Curtin LR. Prevalence and trends in obesity among US adults, 1999-2008. *JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association* 2010;**303:** 235-241.
- 2. Stevens GA, Singh GM, Lu Y, Danaei G, Lin JK, Finucane MM, *et al.* National, regional, and global trends in adult overweight and obesity prevalences. *Popul Health Metr* 2012;**10:** 22.
- 3. Gostin LO. Law as a tool to facilitate healthier lifestyles and prevent obesity. *JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association* 2007;**297:** 87-90.
- 4. Sjostrom L, Lindroos AK, Peltonen M, Torgerson J, Bouchard C, Carlsson B, *et al.* Lifestyle, diabetes, and cardiovascular risk factors 10 years after bariatric surgery. *The New England journal of medicine* 2004;**351:** 2683-2693.
- 5. Mayer EA. Gut feelings: the emerging biology of gut-brain communication. *Nature reviews Neuroscience* 2011;**12:** 453-466.
- 6. Mayer EA, Bradesi S, Chang L, Spiegel BM, Bueller JA, Naliboff BD. Functional GI disorders: from animal models to drug development. *Gut* 2008;**57:** 384-404.
- 7. Saper CB, Chou TC, Elmquist JK. The need to feed: homeostatic and hedonic control of eating. *Neuron* 2002;**36:** 199-211.
- 8. Bailey TW, Appleyard SM, Jin YH, Andresen MC. Organization and properties of GABAergic neurons in solitary tract nucleus (NTS). *Journal of neurophysiology* 2008;**99:** 1712-1722.
- 9. Berthoud HR. The vagus nerve, food intake and obesity. *Regul Pept* 2008;**149:** 15-25.
- 10. Berthoud HR, Morrison C. The brain, appetite, and obesity. *Annu Rev Psychol* 2008;**59**: 55-92.

- 11. Grill HJ, Schwartz MW, Kaplan JM, Foxhall JS, Breininger J, Baskin DG. Evidence that the caudal brainstem is a target for the inhibitory effect of leptin on food intake. *Endocrinology* 2002;**143:** 239-246.
- 12. Ahima RS, Antwi DA. Brain regulation of appetite and satiety. *Endocrinology and metabolism clinics of North America* 2008;**37:** 811-823.
- 13. van Bloemendaal L, Ten Kulve JS, la Fleur SE, Ijzerman RG, Diamant M. Effects of glucagon-like peptide 1 on appetite and body weight: focus on the CNS. *The Journal of endocrinology* 2014;**221:** T1-16.
- 14. Gao Q, Horvath TL. Neuronal control of energy homeostasis. *FEBS letters* 2008;**582:** 132-141.
- 15. Otake K, Ruggiero DA, Nakamura Y. Adrenergic innervation of forebrain neurons that project to the paraventricular thalamic nucleus in the rat. *Brain research* 1995;**697:** 17-26.
- 16. Hsu DT, Kirouac GJ, Zubieta JK, Bhatnagar S. Contributions of the paraventricular thalamic nucleus in the regulation of stress, motivation, and mood. *Front Behav Neurosci* 2014;**8:** 73.
- 17. Russo SJ, Nestler EJ. The brain reward circuitry in mood disorders. *Nature reviews Neuroscience* 2013;**14:** 609-625.
- 18. DiLeone RJ, Taylor JR, Picciotto MR. The drive to eat: comparisons and distinctions between mechanisms of food reward and drug addiction. *Nature neuroscience* 2012;**15**: 1330-1335.
- 19. Kenny PJ. Reward mechanisms in obesity: new insights and future directions. *Neuron* 2011;**69:** 664-679.
- 20. Demos KE, Heatherton TF, Kelley WM. Individual differences in nucleus accumbens activity to food and sexual images predict weight gain and sexual behavior. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 2012;**32:** 5549-5552.
- 21. Wang GJ, Volkow ND, Thanos PK, Fowler JS. Imaging of brain dopamine pathways: implications for understanding obesity. *Journal of addiction medicine* 2009;**3:** 8-18.
- 22. Schur EA, Kleinhans NM, Goldberg J, Buchwald D, Schwartz MW, Maravilla K. Activation in brain energy regulation and reward centers by food cues varies with choice of visual stimulus. *Int J Obes (Lond)* 2009;**33:** 653-661.

- 23. Volkow ND, Wang GJ, Fowler JS, Tomasi D, Baler R. Food and drug reward: overlapping circuits in human obesity and addiction. *Current topics in behavioral neurosciences* 2012;**11:** 1-24.
- 24. Horstmann A, Busse FP, Mathar D, Muller K, Lepsien J, Schlogl H, *et al.* Obesity-Related Differences between Women and Men in Brain Structure and Goal-Directed Behavior. *Frontiers in human neuroscience* 2011;**5**: 58.
- 25. Schafer A, Vaitl D, Schienle A. Regional grey matter volume abnormalities in bulimia nervosa and binge-eating disorder. *NeuroImage* 2010;**50:** 639-643.
- 26. Berthoud HR. Multiple neural systems controlling food intake and body weight. *Neuroscience and biobehavioral reviews* 2002;**26:** 393-428.
- 27. Campbell RG, Hashim SA, Van Itallie TB. Studies of food-intake regulation in man. Responses to variations in nutritive density in lean and obese subjects. *The New England journal of medicine* 1971;**285:** 1402-1407.
- 28. Tataranni PA, DelParigi A. Functional neuroimaging: a new generation of human brain studies in obesity research. *Obesity reviews : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity* 2003;**4:** 229-238.
- 29. LaBar KS, Gitelman DR, Parrish TB, Kim YH, Nobre AC, Mesulam MM. Hunger selectively modulates corticolimbic activation to food stimuli in humans. *Behav Neurosci* 2001;**115:** 493-500.
- 30. Karhunen LJ, Lappalainen RI, Vanninen EJ, Kuikka JT, Uusitupa MI. Regional cerebral blood flow during food exposure in obese and normal-weight women. *Brain : a journal of neurology* 1997;**120 (Pt 9):** 1675-1684.
- 31. Gautier JF, Chen K, Salbe AD, Bandy D, Pratley RE, Heiman M, *et al.* Differential brain responses to satiation in obese and lean men. *Diabetes* 2000;**49:** 838-846.

CHAPTER TWO

Manuscript: Differences in Brain Responses Between Lean and Obese Women to a Sweetened Drink (published Neurogastroenterol Motil 2013)

Abstract

Background: Ingestion of sweet food is driven by central reward circuits and restrained by endocrine and neurocrine satiety signals. The specific influence of sucrose intake on central affective and reward circuitry and alterations of these mechanisms in the obese are incompletely understood. For this we hypothesized 1) Similar brain regions are engaged by the stimulation of sweet taste receptors by sucrose and by non-nutrient sweeteners and 2) During visual food related cues, obese subjects show greater brain responses to sucrose compared to lean controls. **Methods:** In a double blind, crossover design, 10 obese and 10 lean healthy females received a sucrose or a non-nutrient sweetened beverage prior to viewing food or neutral images. BOLD signal was measured using a 1.5 Tesla MRI scanner. Key Results: Viewing food images after ingestion of either drink was associated with engagement of similar brain regions (amygdala, hippocampus, thalamus, anterior insula). Obese differed from lean subjects in behavioral and brain responses rating both beverages as less tasteful and satisfying, yet demonstrating greater brain responses. Obese subjects also showed engagement of an additional brain network (including anterior insula, anterior cingulate, hippocampus, and amygdala) only after sucrose ingestion. Conclusions & Inferences: Obese subjects had a reduced behavioral hedonic response yet a greater engagement of affective brain networks, particularly after sucrose ingestion, suggesting in obese subjects, lingual and gut derived signaling generate less central hedonic effects than food-related memories in response to visual cues, analogous to response patterns implicated in food addiction.

Introduction

In many parts of the industrialized world, obesity has reached epidemic proportions. In the United States, thirty four percent of the population is obese and an additional 34% is considered overweight.(1) Obesity-attributable medical expenditures related to the metabolic syndrome and other associated diseases reached \$75 billion in the US in 2003.(2) Even with the billion-dollar diet industry, long-term weight loss results with dieting have been disappointing. Despite extensive research into possible targets for drug development aimed at the obesity epidemic, only surgical interventions including gastric bypass surgeries have shown persistent benefits.(3) While tremendous progress has been made in the characterization of peripheral, vagal and hypothalamic mechanisms related to food intake and satiety in rodents, (4-9) it has only been recently that affective, reward and cognitive processes related to ingestive behavior and obesity have been studied in human subjects. (10, 11) Based on these studies, it has been suggested that overeating may be the result of an imbalance between vagally and endocrine mediated satiety mechanisms from the intestine with central reward circuits and prefrontal circuits involved in executive control of ingestive behavior. A similar shift between interoceptive, reward, and executive control mechanisms is seen in drug addiction where an altered interaction of these networks results in an enhanced reinforcing value of the drug and a distorted reward threshold.(10, 12)

A number of investigators have looked into the role of food related memories in obesity, by studying the impact of food images on brain activation.(13-15) Studies comparing lean and obese subjects have established differences in brain response to images of high calorie versus low calorie foods.(13, 14) It has also been demonstrated that brain activity changes in response to these food images after a subject consumes glucose versus water, and that this interaction between visual food cues and ingested nutrients differs in obese compared to lean groups.(15) A limitation to these studies is the fact that subjects can taste the difference between high and

low calorie foods and between glucose and water ingestion; thereby confounding the results by the subject's preconceived expectations based on what they are seeing, smelling and tasting. Non-caloric sweeteners stimulate the same sweet taste receptor as glucose and sucrose, thereby theoretically providing the same hedonic value without the calories.(16, 17) For this reason, they are an ideal means to study the specific effect of sucrose absorption on brain activation in obese and lean subjects.

In the current study, we aimed to test the following main hypotheses: i) Brain responses to the ingestion of a non-nutrient sweetened and a sucrose sweetened drink will be similar, presumably involving similar engagement of sweet taste receptors. ii) During visual food related cues, obese subjects will show greater affective and/or hedonic brain and behavioral responses to sucrose compared to lean controls. To test these hypotheses, we assessed brain responses using functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) in lean and obese healthy female subjects during two drink conditions (a 300-calorie sucrose drink and an under 10-calorie non-nutrient sweetened beverage) that both stimulate sweet taste receptors.

Materials and Methods

Participant Selection

Twenty healthy lean and obese female participants were recruited from the clinical research unit of the UCLA Center for Neurobiology of Stress, from the UCLA Center for Human Nutrition, and from community advertisements. Subjects were between the ages of 18-40 years and were age-matched. The ten lean subjects had a body mass index (BMI) between 19-25 kg/m² and the ten obese subjects had a BMI between 30-37 kg/m². All subjects were right-handed, were regularly menstruating and were studied during the follicular phase (4-12 days after the first day of last menstrual period) given brain reward mechanisms vary with reproductive phase.(18)

Exclusion criteria were as follows: i) a history of any gastrointestinal surgery, psychiatric and neurologic disorders, or head trauma with loss of consciousness; ii) a past or current history of an eating disorder; iii) a current history of chronic pain; iv) being pregnant or breast-feeding; v) tobacco use of more than 5 cigarettes per month; vi) a history of excessive exercise; vii) postmenopausal status; viii) use of any medications/drugs that affect the central nervous system, gastrointestinal motility, autonomic activity or pain sensation within 4 weeks of enrollment; ix) a history of serious psychiatric, neurologic, cardiovascular, respiratory, or renal illnesses.

UCLA Office of Protection of Research Subjects (OPRS) approved the study protocol. All subjects provided written informed consent before participation.

Psychosocial Evaluations

Because psychological processes may influence gastrointestinal sensory and motor function as well as brain responses,(19) all subjects were evaluated using the MINI+5.0,(20) the Hospital Anxiety and Depression scale (HAD),(21) and the Spielberger State and Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI).(22) The MINI+5.0 is a brief structured interview for the major Axis I psychiatric disorders in DSM-IV and ICD-10. The HAD scale is a measure of current anxiety and depression symptoms validated for non-psychiatric samples. The STAI is a 40-item self-report assessment that differentiates between state anxiety and trait anxiety.

Appetite Assessments

Taste, hunger, satiation, and satisfaction were assessed with two visual analog scales (VAS). The 10-point VAS for appetite examines taste and desire for specific food and has been shown to be reproducible and not influenced by prior diet standardization.(23) The 10-point Fullness

Questionnaire (FQ) is used to measure hunger and satisfaction and has been shown to correlate positively with the weight and caloric composition of foods, and negatively with palatability.(24)

Functional MRI Paradigm

This study was part of a larger study that used both resting state and task functional MRI to evaluate differences in obese and lean women after a sucrose drink versus a non-nutrient sweetened beverage. In this paper we are reporting only on the second part of the study (study 2) which focuses on the evoked brain responses to visual food cues after nutrient ingestion in obese and lean subjects.

A double-blind randomized crossover design was utilized over two separate days of functional MRI (fMRI) scanning, no less than 2 days apart. The details of the study protocol are shown in **Fig. 1**. Subjects fasted 6 hours prior to scan appointments, which occurred between 9:00 am and 11:00 am. The two scanning days were identical except the drink order was counterbalanced. At the start of each scan day, the subjects were given a synopsis of the study tests and placed in the scanner for a brief structural scan followed by two additional scans: a resting and a task-evoked functional food images scan.

The 15-minute functional food images scan had three 5 min functional RUNS (RUNS 1–3). During each RUN, 36 images (18 food, 18 neutral images of brick walls) were presented in random order. Subjects were instructed to focus their attention on the stimuli. Three images were shown for 4 s each followed by a 12 s dark screen with a central fixation cross. A total of 108 images were displayed (54 food, 54 scenery). In contrast to IAPS pictures, no standardized food images are currently available. As done by other investigators who have used food images,(13-15, 25) the images were selected from an internet repository. The wide array of

appetizing food images was chosen to represent a balance of food preferences. After the scans, subjects rated the images to ensure their palatability.

Ten minutes before both the resting scan and the functional food images scan, subjects consumed a 10 oz. beverage consisting of either a non-nutrient sweetened beverage (Diet Ocean Spray Cranberry Juice with 10 tsp of Truvia; <10 calories) or a sucrose beverage (Ocean Spray Cranberry Juice with 10 tsp of sugar; 300 calories). The beverages were designed to be similar in taste and sweetness. Pilot testing in 5 healthy individuals confirmed that the drinks could not be differentiated on the basis of taste. Subjects consumed both beverages on each scan day but the drink order was counterbalanced. The two beverages were given 25 minutes apart. Randomization was performed using Excel random number generator function. Subjects and investigators were blinded to the drink order. The beverage was presented in a non-descriptive container. Nose clips were applied to minimize olfactory influences and subjects were instructed to drink through a straw. As the study was not aimed at identifying the endocrine mediator(s) of the brain response to the test drinks, no measurements of plasma levels of glucose, insulin or other incretins were performed.

Subjects completed four FQs: a baseline FQ, a second FQ 10-minutes after the first beverage, a third FQ immediately prior to the second beverage, and a fourth FQ ten-minutes after the second beverage. A VAS for appetite questionnaires was completed ten-minutes after each beverage.

fMRI Acquisition and Preprocessing

MRI scanning was performed using a 1.5T MRI scanner (Siemens Sonata; Siemens, Erlangen, Germany). A high resolution structural image was acquired from each subject with a magnetization-prepared rapid gradient-echo (MP-RAGE) sequence, repetition time (TR) = 2200

ms, echo time (TE) = 4.38 ms, slice thickness = 1 mm, 176 slices, 256 x 256 voxel matrices, and 1^3 mm voxel size.

Food-related image stimuli were presented using E-Prime 2.0 Professional through MR compatible goggles. Functional blood oxygen-level dependent (BOLD) images were acquired with an echo-planar T2*-weighted imaging (EPI) sequence, TR = 2000 ms, TE = 45 ms, flip angle = 77°, slice thickness = 5 mm, 220 x 220 voxel matrices, and $3.4 \times 3.4 \times 5$ mm voxel size. Using SPM5 software (Welcome Department of Cognitive Neurology, London, UK), data were slice-time and motion corrected, spatially normalized to the MNI template using the structural images, and spatially smoothed at both 3 mm³ and 8 mm³ Gaussian kernel. The first two volumes were discarded to allow for stabilization of the magnetic field.

Data Analysis

Behavioral Analyses

Behavioral analyses were performed in PASW v17.0 (Chicago, IL). Group differences in STAI and HAD anxiety and depression ratings were evaluated by independent samples t-tests. Taste ratings were evaluated in a Group (lean; obese) x Condition (sucrose; non-nutrient sweetener) analyses of variance (ANOVA). Appetite ratings for satisfaction and hunger were evaluated in Group (lean; obese) x Condition (sucrose; non-nutrient sweetener) x Time (before ingestion; after ingestion) repeated measure ANOVAs. All data are given as mean ± standard error.

fMRI Analyses

To examine similarities between group brain responses to beverage consumption, we performed a region of interest (ROI) based conjunction analysis on the within group activation maps for the food-neutral image contrast obtained from applying a general linear model (GLM) in SPM5. Using the flexible factorial model option, subjects, groups (lean vs. obese), and

conditions (sucrose food images, sucrose neutral images, non-nutrient sweetener food images, and non-nutrient sweetener neutral images) were included as factors and the main effects of group and condition as well as their interaction were estimated. As no order effect was detected, order was not included in the final model. ROI analyses were conducted by applying a small volume correction (SVC) for the ROIs and significance was defined at a probability value less than 0.05 corrected using the family-wise error (FWE) algorithm. Anatomically based ROIs were selected a priori based on areas known to be involved in both hedonic and homeostatic networks (amygdala, hippocampus, hypothalamus, thalamus, and anterior and posterior insula). ROIs were created using the Wake Forest University PickAtlas toolbox in SPM5. To control for type I error inherent in testing multiple ROIs (n=6), significance of each region of interest was only considered after applying a modified Bonferroni procedure.(26)

Multiple regression and the ROIs described above were used to determine group (lean nonnutrient sweetener, lean sucrose, obese non-nutrient sweetener, obese sucrose) differences in the association between hunger scores and brain activity during the viewing of food images and viewing neutral images. Hunger scores were collected after the consumption of the second drink A partial least squares (PLS) analysis was employed to identify distributed patterns of regions associated with viewing pleasant images of food during non-nutrient and sucrose beverage consumption in lean and obese women. PLS is a multivariate statistical technique considered to be more sensitive than standard univariate analyses of neuroimaging data such as SPM.(27, 28) PLS is analogous to principal components analysis (PCA), but the solutions can be restricted to the part of the covariance structure that is attributable to conditions or groups in an experimental design. Task PLS identifies experimental contrasts accounting for the maximum amount of variance in the data and the brain regions whose activity relates, as a whole, to these contrasts. In addition, a non-rotated PLS analysis was employed to examine group by condition interactions. The difference between a non-rotated and a task PLS analysis is that a priori

contrasts of interest are used in the non-rotated but not the task PLS. Contrasts representing group differences in response to food images in the high and low calorie conditions were entered into the analysis. PLS was implemented with freely available code (<u>http://www.rotman-baycrest.on.ca</u>) and performed on data spatially smoothed at 3mm^{3.} Voxel reliability was determined using bootstrap estimation (500 samples). The ratio of the observed weight to the bootstrap standard error was calculated and voxels were considered reliable if the absolute value of the bootstrap ratio (BSR) exceeded 1.96. Clusters with a peak greater than 3.30 and greater than 60 voxels are reported.

Results

Patient Population

Clinical Variables

A total of 22 subjects were enrolled in the study (**Table 1**). The first two subjects were excluded from the GLM and PLS analyses due to suboptimal quality of our initial food and neutral images. Therefore, 20 subjects were used for the GLM and PLS analyses. The mean BMI of the lean group was 22.4 kg/m² (SE 0.5), and 32.9 kg/m² (SE 0.7) for the obese group (p<0.05). All obese and lean subjects' had similar STAI and HAD depression and anxiety ratings that were within the normal range. No subject had current depression or anxiety based on the MINI+ interview.

Appetite Measures

There was no difference between the sucrose and the non-nutrient sweetened drinks, in how their taste was rated by the two groups (**Supplemental Fig 1**). Beverage consumption significantly reduced hunger ratings (p=0.005), increased satisfaction ratings (p<0.001) and reduced desire for sweetness (p<0.001) across all subjects, without any differences between the two drinks. However, obese subjects rated the taste of both beverages significantly lower

than lean subjects (p=0.005), and obese women reported less satisfaction compared to lean subjects after both drinks, consistent with reduced subjective hedonic responses in the obese (p=0.016) (**Supplemental Table 1**).

Correlation of subjective sensations with brain responses

In both obese and lean subjects, a greater subjective hunger score on the FQ correlated with a greater engagement of the left posterior insula using ROI analyses (z= 3.70; p=0.045) when viewing food images after beverage consumption. Compared to lean subjects, obese subjects had a trend for greater correlation of the right anterior insula with the subjective feeling of hunger (z = 3.29; p= 0.074). No significant associations were detected for the other ROIs.

Brain responses related to test drinks in both lean and obese

Conjunction analyses of with in group activation maps for food– neutral image contrast demonstrated that in both groups, similar brain regions were engaged after ingestion of the two test drinks when viewing food images – neutral images. Specifically, there was significant engagement of bilateral amygdala, bilateral hippocampus, and bilateral thalamus, and right anterior insula, consistent with engagement of a network of brain regions related to affect, memory and interoception (**Table 2**).

Brain responses to food cues and differences between obese and lean subjects

A multivariate analysis (task PLS) was used to identify a network of interactive regions that were engaged differently between groups during the four conditions. In both subject groups, the viewing of food images was associated with activation of a network that included the left insula, bilateral pregenual cingulate, bilateral amygdala, and left hippocampus (**Table 3**). This network accounted for 41% of the crossblock variance (p<0.001), and was engaged to a greater extent in the obese compared to lean subjects (**Fig. 2**).

Using a non-rotated PLS, we found an additional network that was more engaged by obese subjects only after the high calorie sucrose beverage compared to all other group/conditions. This network included bilateral anterior insula, right anterior cingulate cortex, bilateral amygdala, the left hippocampus, and the visual cortex (**Table 3**). This network accounted for 27% of the crossblock variance (p=0.028) (**Fig. 3**).

Discussion

The main findings of the study are: 1) Similar brain regions were engaged after ingestion of either sucrose or a non-nutrient sweetener while viewing hedonic food images. 2) In both groups, regardless of drink type, the viewing of pleasant food images was associated with brain networks involving interoceptive, affective and cognitive brain regions. 3) While all subjects rated the taste and the satisfaction of the two drinks similarly, obese women rated both drinks as less tasteful and satisfying than lean women, consistent with a reduced hedonic response to the drinks. 4) This reduced behavioral hedonic response in the obese was associated with greater responses in affective and memory related brain regions to both viewing of food images, and to the ingestion of the sucrose drink. Even though other interpretations are possible, these results suggest that in obese subjects, gut derived sucrose related signaling, presumably transmitted to the brain via vagal afferent and/or endocrine pathways, generates less hedonic effects than recalling memories of pleasant food in response to visual cues. As the latter response appears to be reinforced by sucrose ingestion, it may be a mechanism whereby sucrose ingestion perpetuates the craving for more sweets.

Similarities in brain responses to sucrose and non-nutrient sweetener

In the combined sample, similar brain regions were engaged after ingestion of the two test drinks while viewing hedonic food images. The regions included the bilateral amygdala, bilateral hippocampus, bilateral thalamus, and right anterior insula. These findings are consistent with the multidimensional encoding of interoceptive, affective, memory related and cognitive aspects of the experience of a sweet test meal, as previously reported.(23) Non-nutrient sweeteners bind to lingual taste receptors with equal if not greater affinity as sucrose.(16, 17) The similarity of the brain response between the two drinks suggests that the interoceptive, presumably vagally mediated input to the brain results primarily from lingual and possibly intestinal sweet taste receptor activation, and does not require other encoding mechanisms, which require glucose absorption and interaction with glucose sensing mechanisms in the portal vein, the pancreas and the brain (hypothalamus, nucleus tract solitarius).(29, 30) However, since blood glucose or insulin levels were not assessed in the current study, the possible role of such endocrine signals in the observed brain responses cannot be answered directly.

Differences in subjective ratings of the test meal by obese and lean subjects

Despite the difference in caloric content between the two drinks, we found that subjects rated the taste of the sucrose and the non-nutrient sweetened beverage similarly, suggesting similar activation of lingual sweet taste receptors by the two drinks. Sweet taste perception of both non-nutrient sweeteners and sucrose is peripherally mediated by tongue heteromic T1R2/T1R3 sweet taste receptors. The sensory information is then transmitted by cranial nerves VII, IX and X to the nucleus tract solitarius, and to the human gustatory cortex within the anterior insula.(31)

Previous studies have shown artificial sweeteners bind to these taste receptors with equal if not greater affinity compared to sucrose.(16, 17, 32) For example, it has been reported that both sucrose and sucralose applied lingually active functionally connected primary taste pathways and related brain regions.(31)

Obese subjects rated the taste of both beverages lower than lean subjects, and reported less satisfaction after consuming the beverages compared to lean subjects, consistent with a reduction in the hedonic aspect associated with ingestion of a sweet drink. The subjective perception of sweet taste is a multidimensional experience and reflects the modulation of anterior insula activity by inputs from interoceptive, affective, reward, and prefrontal/orbitofrontal inputs.(21) Taste perception includes the assessment of taste quality, hedonic "liking" and the incentive motivational component "wanting".(31, 33) Reduced satisfaction to actual food ingestion ("liking") despite greater engagement of hedonic circuits during expectation of food intake ("wanting"), has been proposed as a mechanism underlying food addiction.(34) This pattern is similar to drug addiction where craving for the drug is amplified, while actual satisfaction after drug use is reduced.(34) In our study, the subjects were shown palatable images of food after beverage consumption and in between behavioral measure assessment. Altogether, these findings imply that in obese subjects, gut derived signaling generates less hedonic effects than recalling memories of food in response to visual cues.

Recall of food-related memories by visual stimuli and interaction with interoceptive stimuli

It has long been known that amnesic patients readily eat a second meal offered immediately after a full meal(11) suggesting that memory recall of food related experiences are as equally significant as caloric need in the decision to eat. Representations of food-related experiences

are generated in networks involving the prefrontal and orbitofrontal cortices, anterior insula, amygdala, hippocampus and reward pathways.(8, 33) Consistent with previous reports, we found that in both lean and obese subjects, regardless of drink type (and possibly differences in endocrine mediators), the viewing of pleasant food images was associated with activation of interoceptive, affective and memory related brain regions.(35, 36) The fact that we did not see a difference in BOLD response to the two drinks in the hypothalamus in either group or condition comparison may be related to the small sample size.

Obese subjects have an exaggerated response to food images after a sweetened drink While similar brain regions were engaged with both the sucrose and the non-nutrient sweetened beverage in the combined lean and obese groups, there were differences in brain responses when the obese women were compared to the lean group. When obese subjects viewed food images after the sucrose beverage (but not the non-nutrient sweetened drink), a network including the anterior insula, anterior cingulate cortex, right lateral amygdala, right hippocampus, and the visual cortex was more engaged compared to lean subjects. Similarly, Rothemund et al(37) found that high-calorie food images yielded BMI-dependent activations in regions associated with taste information processing (anterior insula and lateral orbitofrontal cortex), motivation (orbitofrontal cortex), and emotion and memory functions (posterior cingulate). These findings are consistent with the concept that viewing food images produces a brain response involving recall of previous food experiences, and that this response is exaggerated in obese subjects.

While both obese and lean subjects showed the expected positive correlation between the subjective feeling of hunger with the engagement of insular cortex when viewing food images postprandially,(38, 39) obese subjects had a greater correlation of the right anterior insula with the subjective feeling of hunger. This suggests a greater modulation in the obese subjects of

this brain region by emotional and reward pathways when craving for food. Anterior insula activation has also been demonstrated in association with the conscious feeling of urge in drug addiction.(12)

Our findings suggest that in obesity, additional interoceptive inputs other than that generated by lingual/intestinal sweet taste receptor activation may play a role in the associated brain response to a sweetened beverage in the context of viewing food cues. In addition to sweet taste receptor activation on intestinal enteroendocrine cells, glucose-sensing mechanisms have been described in the pancreas, portal vein, hypothalamus and the nucleus of the solitary tract.(29, 30, 40-42) While group differences between lean and obese subjects in peripheral glucose, insulin, or incretin levels after sucrose intake may play a role, the current study was not designed to identify such differences.

As an alternative to peripheral differences in glucose sensing, central differences between obese and lean populations might also explain our findings. In the drug addiction model, as addiction increases, stimuli within the environment that are associated with drug use (cigarettes, bottles of alcohol, drug paraphernalia) become powerful reinforcing incentives to drive ongoing drug use. This suggests the interoceptive cortex has a central role in conscious cue-induced urges by encoding a representation of the salient effects of drug use that become activated when an addicted person is exposed to drug cues. It is believed that the amygdala and hippocampus are also involved in conditioning to addictive substances and relative cues in addiction.(43) Similarly, in obesity an addiction to sucrose might prompt increased engagement of this salience network when viewing images of palatable food after ingesting sucrose.

Limitations

A potential limitation to our study is the fact that the volumes of the food were the same for
obese and lean, possibly contributing to the finding that obese subjects were less satiated – obese women might require a larger volume to feel full. However, the absence of a statistical differences in hunger ratings pre and post beverage consumption, suggest that volume did not play a significant role in the satiety measures. Similarly, group differences in gastric emptying may have contributed to the observed differences. The findings in rodent studies(44) that no difference in gastric emptying after infusion of sucrose or an artificially sweetener is observed, argues against a group difference. Another potential limitation is the fact that no direct measurements of glucose, insulin and incretin levels at baseline and following the test meal were performed. While an interesting target for future mechanistic studies, such measurements were not essential to address the main hypotheses of the current study related to group differences in behavioral and brain responses between lean and obese subjects.

Summary and possible clinical implications

In summary, we found several obesity-related differences in behavioral and brain responses to sucrose versus a non-nutrient sweetened beverage. Obese women verbally reported a reduced hedonic behavioral response to either sweetened beverage, yet they demonstrated a greater hedonic brain response particularly after sucrose ingestion. This increased brain response is driven more by recalling memories of food experiences in response to visual cues than by lingual and gut derived signaling. Despite the extensive literature on obesity related changes in peripheral satiety mechanisms, (6, 7) the findings of the current study are most consistent with a difference in central modulation of ingestive behavior in the obese, and are suggestive of food addiction.

Tables

	Lean	Obese
	Mean (SE)	Mean (SE)
	n=10	n=10
Age (yr)	24.60 (1.33)	26.50 (1.64)
BMI (kg/m²)	22.40 (0.50)	32.91 (0.74)
HAD Depression	1.20 (0.39)	2.20 (0.44)
HAD Anxiety	5.70 (1.25)	4.93 (1.06)
STAI	49.20 (3.56)	46.67 (2.82)

 Table 1. Demographics and Baseline Characteristics

ROI	Coordinate (x,y,z)	Cluster value (Ke)	P value (FWE)	Z score
R Amygdala	(-24, -6, -14)	117	0.020	3.24
L Amygdala	(24, -6, -16)	136	0.007	3.60
R Hippocampus	(-28, -36, 2)	32	0.009	3.52
L Hippocampus	(26, -30, -6)	56	0.002	4.00
R Thalamus	(22, -26, -2)	364	0.007	3.98
L Thalamus	(-20, -30, 0)	281	0.004	4.14
R Anterior insula	(-24, -6, -14)	117	0.020	3.24
L Anterior insula	(-26, 30, -8)	18	0.321	2.68

Table 2. Similar brain regions were engaged when looking at images of food after ingestion of both sucrose and the non-nutrient sweetener beverages in lean and obese subjects, using ROI conjunction analysis, as described in Methods. The results for the following ROIs were not significant: posterior insula, hypothalamus.

Analysis	Region	Coordinate (x,y,z)	Cluster value (voxels)	Approx. P value	Bootstrap Ratio
TASK PLS	L BA17/18/19	(-44, -84, 2)	5281	0	9.2475
Food > Neutral	R BA18/19/39	(42, -78, 8)	5986	0	8.2686
	L Cerebellum	(-18, -34, - 46)	71	0	5.5753
	R Cerebellum	(24, -34, -40)	100	0	5.5712
	L BA24	(-4, 4, 28)	66	0	5.5022
	L BA47	(-30, 30, -12)	270	0	5.3495
	R amygdala/PHG/ basal ganglia	(28, -2, -14)	393	0	5.0527
	L Insula	(-38, -10, 10)	192	0	5.0482
	L BA6	(32, -8, 56)	89	0	5.0031
	L amygdala/PHG/ hippocampus	(-18, -8, -18)	324	0	4.9989
	R Caudate	(34, -36, -2)	64	0	4.9537
	R BA9/46	(52, 4, 36)	493	0	4.544
	L BA9/46	(-58, 6, 30)	252	0	4.4831
	R Insula	(40, -6, 4)	83	0	4.2976
	L/R BA6/32	(-4, 12, 52)	208	0	4.181
	R Thalamus	(4, -40, -12)	166	0	4.1239
	L BA40	(-42, -42, 42)	219	0	4.0752
	R BA6	(0, 14, 66)	125	0.0001	4.0478
	L/R Midbrain	(2, -20, -14)	92	0.0001	4.0306
	R Cerebellum	(16, -54, -46)	124	0.0001	4.0259
	L BA17/18	(-12, -94, 2)	97	0.0001	4.0206
	L Insula	(-28, -30, 20)	72	0.0001	3.9012

	L/R BA8/32	(-10, 32, 42)	173	0.0001	3.8883
	L BA24/32	(-6, 32, 20)	137	0.0003	3.6452
	R BA45/46	(46, 32, 4)	92	0.0003	3.6238
	L Cerebellum	(-28, -72, - 48)	97	0.0003	3.6037
	R BA32	(14, 20, 30)	95	0.0003	3.5874
	L Cerebellum	(-6, -80, -28)	72	0.0009	3.3164
NON- ROTATED	R BA 18/19	(30, -80, 24)	3200	0	10.5634
TASK PLS	L BA 18/19	(-44, -84, 2)	2314	0	8.4669
Food > Neutral	L BA 40	(-48, -36, 48)	139	0	7.0144
	R BA 7	(30, -62, 62)	79	0	6.8714
	R Cerebellum	(18, -42, -44)	103	0	6.6146
	R Insula	(52, 14, 0)	209	0	6.5611
	L BA 7	(-22, -64, 42)	364	0	6.5473
	R BA 32	(12, 12, 40)	211	0	6.336
	R BA 9	(50, 4, 42)	259	0	6.0134
	R BA 20	(42, -18, -26)	119	0	5.906
	L BA 6	(-4, 12, 54)	279	0	5.8971
	L PHG/Hippocampus	(-20, -30, -8)	181	0	5.8168
	L Insula	(-40, 8, 2)	131	0	5.6259
	R BA 6	(32, -8, 54)	94	0	5.32
	L Amygdala	(-32, 0, -24)	136	0	4.843
	R BA 2/3	(54, -20, 30)	73	0	4.351
	R Thalamus	(4, -24, 0)	71	0	4.3483
	R Amygdala	(18, -2, -8)	96	0	4.2853
	L BA 6	(-44, 0, 34)	134	0.0001	3.9377
	L BA 47	(-40, 24, -10)	103	0.0002	3.7485

ſ	L BA 4	(-36, -22, 36)	71	0.0005	3.4908

Table 3: Network analyses revealed a network of regions associated with viewing of food images in both lean and obese groups that accounted for 41% of the crossblock variance (p<.001) and was more engaged in the obese subjects (Task PLS) and an additional network more engaged by obese subjects only after consumption of the high calorie sucrose beverage that accounted for 27% of the crossblock variance (p=0.028) (Non Rotated PLS). Analyses detailed in Methods.

Figures



Figure. 1. Study protocol. On the scanning day, subjects underwent three types of scans; a brief structural scan, a resting state scan, and a food images scan. 10 minutes before both the resting state and food images scans, subjects received a fullness questionnaire (FQ) and either a non-nutrient sweetened drink or a sucrose beverage. Immediately prior to scanning, subjects were given another FQ as well as a palatability questionnaire (PQ). This scanning day was repeated with the order of the drinks counterbalanced. The resting state scan along with the drink and questionnaires given prior to the scan were analyzed together as study 1 (results

presented in a different paper). The food images scan and accompanying drink and questionnaires (study 2) are analyzed in this paper.



Figure 2. Obese show greater engagement of brain network including posterior INS (left panel) and bilateral amygdala (right panel) to viewing food images, using a multivariate fMRI analysis approach, as described in Methods. A blue circle marks respective brain regions.



Figure 3 Obese subjects had greater engagement of a network including the anterior INS (blue circle) following the high calorie sucrose beverage, using multivariate fMRI analysis approach, as described in Methods. (p<.001)

Supplemental Figures and Tables

	Lean Subjects		Obese Subjects	
	Mean (SE)		Mean (SE)	
	Low Calorie	High Calorie	Low Calorie	High Calorie
Taste	8.18(.39)	7.73(.50)	6.86(.61)*	5.73(.71)*
Hunger:				
Baseline	5.40(.61)	5.35(.85)	5.8(.49)	5.50(.44)
After 2 nd Drink	3.28(.98)	3.55(.76)	4.75(.60)	4.20(.61)
Satisfaction:				
Baseline	1.50(.40)	1.60(.31)	2.30(.55)	2.20(.52)
After 2 nd Drink	4.44(.85)	4.80(.84)	3.70(.44)	3.95(.48)
Desire for				
Sweetness:				
Baseline	4.85(.71)	3.45(1.02)	5.35(.65)	4.40(.73)
After 2 nd Drink	6.94(.85)	7.95(.50)	7.25(.59)	7.10(.53)

*p<0.05 between group comparisons

Supplemental Table 1. Taste and appetite ratings at baseline and after the second beverage consumption. Subjective ratings were quantified using a 10-point VAS, as described in the methods.



Supplemental Figure 1. Comparing taste ratings of sucrose and non-nutrient sweetened beverages between obese and lean subjects (*p>0.05). Subjective taste ratings were quantified using a 10-point VAS, from "bad = 0" to "good = 10".

References

- 1. Flegal KM, Carroll MD, Ogden CL, Curtin LR. Prevalence and trends in obesity among US adults, 1999-2008. JAMA. 2010 Jan 20;303(3):235-41.
- 2. Gostin LO. Law as a tool to facilitate healthier lifestyles and prevent obesity. JAMA. 2007 Jan 3;297(1):87-90.
- Sjostrom L, Lindroos AK, Peltonen M, Torgerson J, Bouchard C, Carlsson B, et al. Lifestyle, diabetes, and cardiovascular risk factors 10 years after bariatric surgery. N Engl J Med. 2004 Dec 23;351(26):2683-93.
- 4. Covasa M. Deficits in gastrointestinal responses controlling food intake and body weight. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2010 Dec;299(6):R1423-39.

- de Lartigue G, de La Serre CB, Raybould HE. Vagal afferent neurons in high fat dietinduced obesity; intestinal microflora, gut inflammation and cholecystokinin. Physiol Behav. 2011 Nov 30;105(1):100-5.
- 6. Valassi E, Scacchi M, Cavagnini F. Neuroendocrine control of food intake. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2008 Feb;18(2):158-68.
- 7. Camilleri M. Peripheral mechanisms in the control of appetite and related experimental therapies in obesity. Regul Pept. 2009 Aug 7;156(1-3):24-7.
- 8. Berthoud HR. The vagus nerve, food intake and obesity. Regul Pept. 2008 Aug 7;149(1-3):15-25.
- Shin AC, Zheng H, Berthoud HR. An expanded view of energy homeostasis: neural integration of metabolic, cognitive, and emotional drives to eat. Physiol Behav. 2009 Jul 14;97(5):572-80.
- 10. Volkow ND, Wang GJ, Baler RD. Reward, dopamine and the control of food intake: implications for obesity. Trends Cogn Sci. 2011 Jan;15(1):37-46.
- 11. Berthoud HR, Morrison C. The brain, appetite, and obesity. Annu Rev Psychol. 2008;59:55-92.
- 12. Naqvi NH, Bechara A. The hidden island of addiction: the insula. Trends Neurosci. 2009 Jan;32(1):56-67.
- 13. Wallner-Liebmann S, Koschutnig K, Reishofer G, Sorantin E, Blaschitz B, Kruschitz R, et al. Insulin and hippocampus activation in response to images of high-calorie food in normal weight and obese adolescents. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2010 Aug;18(8):1552-7.
- Batterink L, Yokum S, Stice E. Body mass correlates inversely with inhibitory control in response to food among adolescent girls: an fMRI study. Neuroimage. 2010 Oct 1;52(4):1696-703.
- 15. Kullmann S, Heni M, Veit R, Ketterer C, Haering H, Fritsche A, et al. The Influence of Weight and Homeostatic Signals on Postprandial Intrinsic Brain Activity. 2011.
- 16. DuBois GE. Unraveling the biochemistry of sweet and umami tastes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004 Sep 28;101(39):13972-3.
- 17. Nie Y, Vigues S, Hobbs JR, Conn GL, Munger SD. Distinct contributions of T1R2 and T1R3 taste receptor subunits to the detection of sweet stimuli. Curr Biol. 2005 Nov 8;15(21):1948-52.
- Dreher JC, Schmidt PJ, Kohn P, Furman D, Rubinow D, Berman KF. Menstrual cycle phase modulates reward-related neural function in women. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007 Feb 13;104(7):2465-70.
- 19. Van Oudenhove L, Coen SJ, Aziz Q. Functional brain imaging of gastrointestinal sensation in health and disease. World J Gastroenterol. 2007 Jul 7;13(25):3438-45.
- 20. Sheehan DV, Lecrubier Y, Sheehan KH, Amorim P, Janavs J, Weiller E, et al. The Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (M.I.N.I.): the development and validation of a

structured diagnostic psychiatric interview for DSM-IV and ICD-10. J Clin Psychiatry. 1998;59 Suppl 20:22-33;quiz 4-57.

- 21. Zigmond AS, Snaith RP. The hospital anxiety and depression scale. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 1983 Jun;67(6):361-70.
- 22. Spielberger CD, Gorsuch RL, Lushene R, Vagg PR, Jacobs GA. Manual for the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press; 1983.
- 23. Flint A, Raben A, Blundell JE, Astrup A. Reproducibility, power and validity of visual analogue scales in assessment of appetite sensations in single test meal studies. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 2000 Jan;24(1):38-48.
- 24. Holt SH, Miller JC, Petocz P, Farmakalidis E. A satiety index of common foods. Eur J Clin Nutr. 1995 Sep;49(9):675-90.
- 25. Baicy K, London ED, Monterosso J, Wong ML, Delibasi T, Sharma A, et al. Leptin replacement alters brain response to food cues in genetically leptin-deficient adults. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007 Nov 13;104(46):18276-9.
- 26. Benjamini Y, Hochberg Y. Controlling the false discovery rate: A practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society, Series B (Methodological). 1995;57(1):289-300.
- 27. McIntosh AR, Bookstein FL, Haxby JV, Grady CL. Spatial pattern analysis of functional brain images using partial least squares. Neuroimage. 1996 Jun;3(3 Pt 1):143-57.
- 28. McIntosh AR, Lobaugh NJ. Partial least squares analysis of neuroimaging data: applications and advances. Neuroimage. 2004;23 Suppl 1:S250-63.
- 29. Matveyenko AV, Donovan CM. Metabolic sensors mediate hypoglycemic detection at the portal vein. Diabetes. 2006 May;55(5):1276-82.
- 30. Heijboer AC, Pijl H, Van den Hoek AM, Havekes LM, Romijn JA, Corssmit EP. Gut-brain axis: regulation of glucose metabolism. J Neuroendocrinol. 2006 Dec;18(12):883-94.
- 31. Frank GK, Oberndorfer TA, Simmons AN, Paulus MP, Fudge JL, Yang TT, et al. Sucrose activates human taste pathways differently from artificial sweetener. Neuroimage. 2008 Feb 15;39(4):1559-69.
- 32. Grimm ER, Steinle NI. Genetics of eating behavior: established and emerging concepts. Nutr Rev. 2011 Jan;69(1):52-60.
- 33. Mayer EA. Gut feelings: the emerging biology of gut-brain communication. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2011 Aug;12(8):453-66.
- Volkow ND, Wang GJ, Fowler JS, Telang F. Overlapping neuronal circuits in addiction and obesity: evidence of systems pathology. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 2008 Oct 12;363(1507):3191-200.
- 35. Killgore WD, Young AD, Femia LA, Bogorodzki P, Rogowska J, Yurgelun-Todd DA. Cortical and limbic activation during viewing of high- versus low-calorie foods. Neuroimage. 2003 Aug;19(4):1381-94.

- 36. Schur EA, Kleinhans NM, Goldberg J, Buchwald D, Schwartz MW, Maravilla K. Activation in brain energy regulation and reward centers by food cues varies with choice of visual stimulus. Int J Obes (Lond). 2009 Jun;33(6):653-61.
- 37. Rothemund Y, Preuschhof C, Bohner G, Bauknecht HC, Klingebiel R, Flor H, et al. Differential activation of the dorsal striatum by high-calorie visual food stimuli in obese individuals. Neuroimage. 2007 Aug 15;37(2):410-21.
- 38. Wang GJ, Volkow ND, Telang F, Jayne M, Ma J, Rao M, et al. Exposure to appetitive food stimuli markedly activates the human brain. Neuroimage. 2004 Apr;21(4):1790-7.
- 39. Pelchat ML, Johnson A, Chan R, Valdez J, Ragland JD. Images of desire: food-craving activation during fMRI. Neuroimage. 2004 Dec;23(4):1486-93.
- 40. Thorens B. Glucose sensing and the pathogenesis of obesity and type 2 diabetes. Int J Obes (Lond). 2008 Dec;32 Suppl 6:S62-71.
- 41. Langhans W, Grossmann F, Geary N. Intrameal hepatic-portal infusion of glucose reduces spontaneous meal size in rats. Physiol Behav. 2001 Jul;73(4):499-507.
- 42. Grabauskas G, Song I, Zhou S, Owyang C. Electrophysiological identification of glucosesensing neurons in rat nodose ganglia. J Physiol. 2010 Feb 15;588(Pt 4):617-32.
- 43. Volkow ND, O'Brien CP. Issues for DSM-V: should obesity be included as a brain disorder? Am J Psychiatry. 2007 May;164(5):708-10.
- 44. Ma J, Bellon M, Wishart JM, Young R, Blackshaw LA, Jones KL, et al. Effect of the artificial sweetener, sucralose, on gastric emptying and incretin hormone release in healthy subjects. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2009 Apr;296(4):G735-9.

CHAPTER THREE

Background: Using Resting MRI to Study Obesity

Overview

A major limitation of applying functional imaging techniques to study the brain's response to food intake has been the traditional need for phasic on/off paradigms to study hemodynamic (BOLD) responses. This paradigm has not been feasible for the study of satiety signals. However, it is now appreciated that a wealth of information exists in the fluctuations in the BOLD signal that are seen in the brain even when the subject is at rest and not actively engaged in discrete tasks, ushering new approaches to fMRI design and analysis.

Oscillatory Dynamics of the Resting Brain

One such approach is to study the frequency features of intrinsic brain activity. It has been suggested that specific frequency band oscillations may correlate with different regions (i.e. cortical or sub-cortical), based on communication strength (local vs long term signaling) and that an alteration of frequency power may reflect a change in regional processing (1, 2). Frequency bands have also been associated with specific functions. For example, brain regions involved with pain processing have been shown to have higher frequency oscillations (3, 4).

Patients with cognitive disorders typically display altered frequency patterns (5, 6), and analysis of the brain's oscillatory dynamics can provide novel insights into the effect of both clinical conditions and physiological manipulations on brain processes. For example, altering serotonin function by acute tryptophan depletion has been shown to increase high frequency power in brainstem raphe nuclei as well as change raphe connectivity patterns (7). The identification of altered region-specific frequency shifting can also identify regions of interest for further examination with other resting state analysis techniques (7, 8).

The determination of varying oscillatory dynamics in and of itself is quite novel, can offer insights, but the physiological underpinnings are less understood. One potential interpretation

of frequency power is that it relates to neuronal activity, with increased frequency power indicating reduced neural firing (9, 10).

Functional Connectivity

An increasingly popular approach to studying the resting brain involves the assessment of intrinsic functional connectivity among brain regions, typically using seed correlation analysis or independent component analysis to test the strength of the connection between one region with the rest of the brain. Recent studies have shown altered intrinsic functional connectivity during resting conditions in various clinical conditions (11, 12). Furthermore, connectivity studies going beyond the standard resting protocol have demonstrated that cognitive and physiological manipulations (including ingestion of alcohol and marijuana) can impact the intrinsic connectivity of networks in healthy subjects(13, 14).

Obesity and The Resting Brain

Neuroimaging studies on resting state and obesity are limited, but have provided several insights. For one, they have highlighted the parallels between drug addiction and obesity suggesting that addictive and natural reinforcement from food depends on the engagement of brain regions associated with reward(15). Kilpatrick et al reported that ingestion of a carbohydrate test meal was associated with altered connectivity and oscillatory dynamics in both lean and obese women(8). Nutrient ingestion was associated with a shift to high frequencies in the vagal nucleus of the solitary tract (NTS), suggesting increased neural activity in a brainstem region that receives vagal afferents from the gut and is associated with homeostatic processes in relation to food intake (Figure 1).

Although this shift was seen in both lean and obese women, the groups differed in the relationship of NTS high frequency power to subjective hunger ratings and functional connectivity patterns. For lean but not obese women, decreased hunger ratings following beverage consumption was associated with greater high frequency in the NTS. These results suggest a connection between activity in homeostatic input regions and self-reported hunger in lean women that is less present in obese women. The NTS was shown to interact differently with other brain regions such as the thalamus and putamen(8).

For obese women, but not lean, increased high frequency power in the NTS was associated with increased connectivity between the NTS and these reward and motivation-related brain regions, suggesting enhanced reward/motivation effects of food intake in obese individuals. While there seems to be differences in the intrinsic oscillation patterns of the obese vs lean brain, and these patterns seem to be impacted by ingestive behavior, the role of something like a hormone in altering these patterns is in need of further study.

Figures



Fig. 1 Activity in brainstem regions demonstrated sucrose-related redistribution of frequency power. *Red*: reduced LF/MF frequency power after ingestion of a high-sucrose beverage compared with a low-sucrose beverage in both lean and obese women. *Blue*: greater HF frequency power after ingestion of a high-sucrose beverage compared with a low-sucrose beverage in both lean and obese women. *Green*: greater HF frequency power in lean compared with obese women regardless of drink condition. NTS is shown *circled*. frequency for lean women compared with obese women

References

- 1. Zuo XN, Di Martino A, Kelly C, Shehzad ZE, Gee DG, Klein DF, *et al.* The oscillating brain: complex and reliable. *NeuroImage* 2010;**49:** 1432-1445.
- 2. Buzsaki G, Draguhn A. Neuronal oscillations in cortical networks. *Science* 2004;**304**: 1926-1929.
- 3. Baliki MN, Baria AT, Apkarian AV. The cortical rhythms of chronic back pain. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 2011;**31:** 13981-13990.

- 4. Kim JY, Kim SH, Seo J, Kim SH, Han SW, Nam EJ, *et al.* Increased power spectral density in resting-state pain-related brain networks in fibromyalgia. *Pain* 2013;**154:** 1792-1797.
- 5. Hoptman MJ, Zuo XN, Butler PD, Javitt DC, D'Angelo D, Mauro CJ, *et al.* Amplitude of low-frequency oscillations in schizophrenia: a resting state fMRI study. *Schizophrenia research* 2010;**117:** 13-20.
- 6. Han Y, Wang J, Zhao Z, Min B, Lu J, Li K, *et al.* Frequency-dependent changes in the amplitude of low-frequency fluctuations in amnestic mild cognitive impairment: a resting-state fMRI study. *NeuroImage* 2011;**55**: 287-295.
- 7. Salomon RM, Cowan RL, Rogers BP, Dietrich MS, Bauernfeind AL, Kessler RM, *et al.* Time series fMRI measures detect changes in pontine raphe following acute tryptophan depletion. *Psychiatry research* 2011;**191:** 112-121.
- 8. Kilpatrick LA, Coveleskie K, Connolly L, Labus JS, Ebrat B, Stains J, *et al.* Influence of sucrose ingestion on brainstem and hypothalamic intrinsic oscillations in lean and obese women. *Gastroenterology* 2014;**146:** 1212-1221.
- 9. Fox MD, Raichle ME. Spontaneous fluctuations in brain activity observed with functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Nature reviews Neuroscience* 2007;**8:** 700-711.
- 10. Pan WJ, Thompson GJ, Magnuson ME, Jaeger D, Keilholz S. Infraslow LFP correlates to resting-state fMRI BOLD signals. *NeuroImage* 2013;**74:** 288-297.
- 11. Buckner RL, Sepulcre J, Talukdar T, Krienen FM, Liu H, Hedden T, *et al.* Cortical hubs revealed by intrinsic functional connectivity: mapping, assessment of stability, and relation to Alzheimer's disease. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 2009;**29:** 1860-1873.
- 12. Greicius M. Resting-state functional connectivity in neuropsychiatric disorders. *Current opinion in neurology* 2008;**21:** 424-430.
- 13. Esposito F, Pignataro G, Di Renzo G, Spinali A, Paccone A, Tedeschi G, *et al.* Alcohol increases spontaneous BOLD signal fluctuations in the visual network. *NeuroImage* 2010;**53:** 534-543.
- 14. Klumpers LE, Cole DM, Khalili-Mahani N, Soeter RP, Te Beek ET, Rombouts SA, *et al.* Manipulating brain connectivity with delta(9)-tetrahydrocannabinol: a pharmacological resting state FMRI study. *NeuroImage* 2012;**63**: 1701-1711.
- 15. Volkow ND, Wang GJ, Baler RD. Reward, dopamine and the control of food intake: implications for obesity. *Trends in cognitive sciences* 2011;**15:** 37-46.

CHAPTER FOUR

Manuscript: Altered Functional Connectivity within the Central Reward Network in Overweight and Obese Women *(published Nutrition & Diabetes, 2015)*

Abstract

Background/Objectives: Neuroimaging studies in obese subjects have identified abnormal activation of key regions of central reward circuits, including the nucleus accumbens (NAcc), in response to food related stimuli. We aimed to examine if women with elevated body mass index (BMI) show structural, and resting state (RS) functional connectivity alterations within regions of the reward network. Subjects/Methods: 50 healthy, premenopausal women, 19 overweight and obese (high BMI=26-38 kg/m²) and 31 lean (BMI=19-25 kg/m²) were selected from UCLA's Oppenheimer Center for Neurobiology of Stress database. Structural and RS functional scans were collected. Group differences in grey matter volume (GMV) of the NAcc, oscillation dynamics of intrinsic brain activity, and functional connectivity of the NAcc to regions within the reward network were examined. **Results:** GMV of left NAcc was significantly greater in the high BMI group than in the lean group (p=0.031). Altered frequency distributions were observed in women with high BMI compared to lean in the left NAcc (p=.009) in a medium frequency band and in bilateral anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) (p=.014, <.001) and ventro-medial prefrontal cortex (vmPFC) (p=.034, <.001) in a high frequency band. Subjects with high BMI had greater connectivity of the left NAcc with bilateral ACC (p=.024) and right vmPFC (.032) in a medium frequency band and with the left ACC (p=.03) in a high frequency band. **Conclusions**: Overweight and obese women in the absence of food related stimuli show significant structural and functional alterations within regions of reward-related brain networks, which may play a role in altered ingestive behaviors.

Introduction

In the lean individual, food intake and body weight are under tight homeostatic regulation.¹ Bidirectional signaling between the gut, adipose tissue and the brain acts as an energybalancing circuit assuring a stable body weight even in the presence of fluctuations of food intake and physical activity. However, in obesity relative changes in the inputs to this circuit have to be considered which might disrupt or off-set this balance.² One important input comes from the mesolimbic dopamine system which drives food related behaviors and plays a crucial role in the complex interactions between hedonia, reinforcement, motivation, incentive salience, and reward prediction.^{3, 4} From an evolutionary standpoint, this system optimizes survival in a world of limited food supply. ⁵ However, when highly palatable food is readily available, increasingly hedonically driven consumption can lead to an altered state of homeostasis.² Under these circumstances, the ability to resist the urge to eat is no longer solely dependent on metabolically driven satiety signals, but becomes dependent on the inhibitory effects of prefrontal control mechanisms.

Neuroimaging studies in human subjects have highlighted the parallels between drug addiction and a subset of obesity,⁶ suggesting that addictive and natural reinforcement from food is dependent on the engagement of brain regions associated with reward.⁴ Food addiction has been implicated as an important factor in the pathophysiology of obesity in about 11% of overweight and obese women.⁷ For example, alterations in dopaminergic input from the ventral tegmental area (VTA) and substantia nigra to the nucleus accumbens (NAcc) can lead to a dysregulation of motivational and reward properties associated with food intake.⁸ In fact, individual differences in NAcc responses to contextual food cues (including visual, auditory and olfactory) may be one of the main reasons for obese individuals to show addiction like behaviors resulting in weight gain.⁹ The majority of insights about brain alterations in food addiction come

from PET studies using dopamine receptor ligands,¹⁰ and tasked based fMRI studies that look at hemodynamic (BOLD) signals while subjects undergo a specific task, such as viewing images of food.¹¹ Studies have also reported obesity related differences in brain structure. For example, BMI has been shown to be positively correlated with grey matter volume (GMV) in the medial orbitofrontal cortex (OFC), hypothalamus (HYP), and left putamen.¹² In addition, several studies have identified increases in GMV of the NAcc in obese subjects compared to lean subjects^{12, 13} as well as in subjects who had increased eating behaviors but similar BMI compared to control subjects.¹³ When viewed together, these results suggest that the NAcc is not only associated with evaluating motivationally salient stimuli (food) and in evaluating its subjective value, but that chronically altered ingestive behavior is associated with neuroplastic structural changes in the NAcc.¹²

There is limited information about obesity related differences in spontaneous intrinsic BOLD oscillations in the brain (resting-state [RS] fMRI). Several RS analytic techniques such as fractional amplitude of low-frequency fluctuation (fALFF) (which computes regional power spectrum intensity of spontaneous brain oscillations)¹⁴ and intrinsic functional connectivity have been used to identify disease-related alterations associated with specific brain regions. Such techniques have been used to examine altered neuro-circuitry in obesity.¹⁵⁻¹⁷

Based on previous reports on alterations of the extended reward network in obesity, we aimed to test the following hypotheses in healthy women with and without elevated BMI values: Subjects with elevated BMIs 1) have larger NAcc volumes compared to lean controls, reflecting increased engagement of the reward system and/or secondary neuroplastic effects of obesity on the brain; 2) show alterations in intrinsic oscillatory dynamics of BOLD signal for regions of the extended reward network, including the NAcc; and 3) show increased NAcc functional connectivity within the reward network compared to lean controls.

Methods and Materials

Participant Selection

Fifty healthy women aged 18-40 years old were recruited through the University of California, Los Angeles, and community using advertisements. The sample included 31 lean women (mean age 25.42 years old, SD=5.86; Body Mass Index [BMI] 19-25 kg/m²) and 19 overweight or obese women (mean age 27.05 years old; SD=7.03; BMI 26-38 kg/m²). All subjects were right-handed, pre-menopausal, and classified as healthy after a clinical assessment that included a modified Mini-International Neuropsychiatric

Interview Plus 5.0,¹⁸ a brief structured interview for major Axis I psychiatric disorders in DSM-IV¹⁹ and ICD-10,²⁰ and the Hospital Anxiety and Depression (HAD) questionnaire.²¹

The subjects provided written informed consent and all procedures were reviewed and approved by the UCLA Medical Institutional Review Board. Further exclusion criteria included pregnancy, substance abuse, tobacco dependence, psychiatric illness, diabetes, and any digestive or eating disorders such as anorexia or bulimia nervosa. Subjects were also excluded if they were currently on medication such as analgesics or antidepressants. Subjects who had undergone any obesity-reduction surgery were also excluded.

Structural and Resting State data acquisition

MRI images were acquired on a Siemens 3 Tesla Trio scanner. Structural scans included a standard T1-weighted magnetization-prepared rapid acquisition gradient echo (MP-RAGE) scan which was acquired with the following parameters: TE = 3.26ms, TR = 2200ms, slices= 176, slice thickness = 1.0mm, voxel size = 1x1x1mm, with the exception of three obese subjects' whose structural images were collected with the following parameters: TE = 3ms, TR = 2000ms, slices = 160, slice thickness = 1mm, voxel size = 1x1x1mm.

Functional MRI RS scans between 8m6s and 10m6s in length were acquired with an echo planar sequence with the following parameters: TE = 28ms, TR = 2000ms, scan duration = 8m6s – 10m6s, flip angel = 77 degrees, FOV = 220mm, slices = 40, slice thickness = 4.0mm, slices were obtained with whole-brain coverage.

Structural MRI image processing and analysis

Outlines around the NAcc were manually created with the help of the intensity contour function within FSLview (FMRIB's Software Library, <u>www.fmrib.ox.ac.uk/fsl</u>.^{22, 23} First slices were selected where the anterior NAcc is most visible. In order to determine the superior border of the NAcc, an oblique line was drawn from the inferior most tip of the lateral ventricle (where it meets the caudate) to the inferior most medial tip of the putamen. Then the inferior border of the NAcc was determined using the contour function and with the help of determining the position of the caudate

(http://neuromorphometrics.org:8080/Seg/html/segmentation/accumbens_area.html). The LONI (Laboratory of Neuroimaging) pipeline (http://pipeline.loni.usc.edu/), a graphical workflow environment was utilized to obtain total brain volumes (TBV) for all subjects. The NAcc ROI values were then aggregated and entered in a general linear model (GLM) in SPSS while controlling for age and TBV in order to compare the NAcc volumes in the two groups (obese and overweight compared to lean female subjects).

Resting- state MRI image preprocessing

Image processing and data analysis were performed using Statistical Parametric Mapping 8 (SPM8) software (Wellcome Department of Cognitive Neurology, London). Processing was done through the SPM toolbox, Data Processing Assistant for RestingState fMRI (DPARSF),²⁴ where data were slice-time and motion corrected. Nuisance covariate regression was performed to minimize physiological noise using six head motion parameters, white matter signal and corticospinal fluid signal. Data were spatially normalized to the Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) template using structural scans. Spatial smoothing with a 4mm³ Gaussian kernel occurred after calculation of frequency and connectivity maps.²⁴

Frequency analysis

Although frequency analyses of resting state scan data typically compute power with a 0.01-0.10 Hz band, the frequency spectrum can be further subdivided to better reflect the neural origin of their sources.¹⁴ For each resting state scan, the BOLD signal time-course data of each voxel was transformed to the frequency domain and was subdivided into slow-5 (0.01-0.027 Hz), slow-4 (0.027-0.073 Hz) and slow-3 (0.073-.198 Hz) frequency bands thought to represent different neuronal oscillation classes.^{25, 26} These bands will be referred to low frequency (LF), medium frequency (MF) and high frequency (HF) respectively. Relative power within each of the three bands was computed for each voxel in the brain using fALFF and normalized to the mean.¹⁴ This technique involves summing the oscillatory amplitudes across a particular frequency range (i.e. 0.027-0.073 Hz) then dividing by the amplitude sum across a more inclusive range (i.e. 0.-25 Hz), thereby assessing the ratio of power for a particular frequency band to the power of the entire frequency range. A grey matter mask was applied to restrict analysis to grey matter regions. For the results of the frequency band analyzes, we focused on the LF and MF bands only as the HF band can contain noise (possibly due to interference from physiologic measures).

The GLM in SPM8 was used to compare group data (overweight and obese; lean) x band (LF; MF), with age included as a covariate. Using a region of interest (ROI) approach,²⁷ group contrasts (overweight and obese group versus lean group) were performed for each band to identify regions with altered frequency power distributions. Anatomically-based ROIs were created using the Wake Forest University PickAtlas toolbox in SPM8. Regions were chosen based on involvement within the extended reward network as upregulation of reward circuits that drive ingestive behavior include brain regions concerned with reward, salience, central

autonomic, and cortical inhibition (prefrontal control). The brain regions included NAcc, hippocampus (HIPP), OFC, ventromedial prefrontal cortex (vmPFC), anterior cingulate cortex (ACC), amygdala (AMYG), insula (INS), and regions of the striatum (caudate, putamen, pallidum).^{4, 5, 8} Contrast images were thresholded at p=.001, uncorrected and small volume correction was employed to determine significance of ROI based on p<.05, corrected for family wise error (FWE) rate. False discovery rate (FDR) was applied to control for the type I error inherent in testing multiple ROIs.^{28, 29}

Seed-based Functional Connectivity Analysis

Altered frequency power distribution can be accompanied by altered functional connectivity;³⁰⁻³² thus the functional connectivity of the regions identified in the above analysis was examined, focusing particularly on the region in the left NAcc. Using MarsBar,³³ a seed was defined for the NAcc using results of the frequency analysis; thus the NAcc seed was confined to the portion of the NAcc demonstrating altered frequency distribution. For readability, the functionally defined NAcc cluster is sometimes simply referred to as the NAcc in results and discussion sections. In addition, the other reward-related regions with significant group differences in frequency power were used as ROIs in the functional connectivity analysis (ACC, vmPFC). Band specific fisher transformed maps of the bivariate correlation between seed ROI timecourse and all other voxels were created using DPARSF. Band-specific functional connectivity in overweight and obese versus lean women was compared using an ROI approach similar to other studies,³⁴ and a two-sample t-test in SPM8 using age as a covariate. Significance was determined at p<.05 FWE corrected and ROIs were further FDR corrected for multiple comparisons.^{28, 29} Correlations between brain measures (structural, frequency power and functional connectivity) and BMI were conducted in SPSS.³⁵

Results

Demographic and Clinical Characteristics

The subject groups showed no statistically significant difference in age or any clinical measure (**Supplementary Table 1**). BMI for the lean group ranged from 19.5225.09 kg/m² with an average of 22.32 kg/m². BMI for the overweight/obese group ranged from 25.88-37.56 kg/m² with an average of 31.83 kg/m². With all values being within the normal range, the two groups also did not differ in symptom levels of anxiety (F=.361, p=.553), depression (F=2.301, p=.139).

Structural analysis (NAcc Volumes)

After controlling for age and total brain volume, the high BMI group had larger bilateral NAcc volumes compared to the lean group (**Table 1**), even though this difference only reached statistical significance for the left hemisphere (F=4.936 p=.031). The left NAcc volume showed a significant correlation with BMI over all subjects (r= .351; p=.013; **Figure 1**).

fALFF group comparison

The fALFF results for the MF and LF bands are summarized in **Table 2**. When comparing the high BMI group with the lean group, the left NAcc had greater frequency power in the MF band (p=.009) (**Figure 2A**). There was no significant correlation between the left NAcc brain volume and frequency power in either the MF (r=.228, p=.115) or LF (r=.126, p=.388) bands. The bilateral ACC (left p<.001, right p=.014) and vmPFC/OFC (left p<.001, right p=.034) showed greater frequency power in the LF band (**Figure 2B**). There were no brain regions that had greater frequency power in the lean subjects. None of the other ROIs showed significant group differences.

Functional connectivity of the NAcc

The region within the left NAcc and the other regions (bilateral ACC and vmPFC) identified in the above frequency analysis were used to determine the functional connectivity between these regions. These results are summarized in **Table 3**. The left NAcc region demonstrated band-specific altered functional connectivity with the ACC and vmPFC in the high BMI group compared to the lean group. In the MF band, greater NAcc functional connectivity was observed in the overweight and obese group with left and right ACC (p=0.024; p=0.024), and right vmPFC/OFC (p=0.0315) (**Figure 3A**). In the LF band, greater NAcc functional connectivity was observed with the left ACC (p=0.03) (**Figure 3B**). Functional connectivity and BMI was found to be significantly correlated for all the regions that had greater functional connectivity with the defined cluster of the left NAcc in the high BMI group for both MF [right ACC (p<.001, r=.522), left ACC (p=.013, r=.349), and right vmPFC/OFC (p<.001, r=.517)] and LF [left ACC (p=.023, r=.321)] bands. No NAcc functional connectivity was observed to be greater in the lean group.

Discussion

In this study, we examined differences between healthy women with high and normal BMI regarding NAcc volume, frequency distribution of intrinsic BOLD oscillations, and in terms of NAcc functional connectivity. The main findings of the study were: Women with increased BMI had 1) significantly larger left NAcc volumes, 2) increased band-specific frequency power in key regions of the extended reward network, including the NAcc, and 3) increased functional connectivity of a region within the NAcc with other extended reward-related regions that had also demonstrated altered frequency. The findings of this study are consistent with an alteration in central reward circuits in the pathophysiology of obese women. To our knowledge, this is the first study to demonstrate abnormalities in the intrinsic oscillation and connectivity of the RS brain in women with increased BMI.

Increased BMI is associated with larger NAcc volume

Our findings of increased GMV of the NAcc are consistent with previous reports that focused on male/female differences (20) and adolescent (24) and elderly (46) subjects showing greater GMV in reward regions with higher BMI. Based on positive correlations between serum leptin levels and greater GMV in NAcc and ventral striatum, it has previously been suggested that the obesity related structural differences may be a consequence of increased signaling from adipose tissue to the brain,¹² rather than a consequence of altered ingestive behavior. Further support for a hypothesized role of adipocyte related signals influencing brain structure comes from a recent study in morbidly obese subjects, in which structural brain changes were negatively correlated with body fat.³⁶ Brain imaging findings from other disorders of ingestive behavior (e.g. anorexia nervosa, bulimia nervosa) also suggest the possible role of signals related to body fat or hydration, rather than to food intake or addiction in the development of structural brain differences. For example, a systematic review done by Van den Eyden³⁷ suggests there is a general increase in volume of brain regions in bulimia nervosa and binge eating disorder which are ingestive behavioral disorders that are associated with increased eating. However, there is a general decrease in brain volumes observed in anorexia nervosa, a disorder characterized by severe reduction in food intake and loss of body fat.³⁷ Together these studies suggest that adipocyte related signaling to the brain may result in both increases as well as decreases in GMV and that these alterations are based on the degree of food and water intake. Mechanistic studies in rodent models are required to further test this hypothesis.

Increased spontaneous brain oscillations in individuals with high BMI within the low and medium frequency bands

In order to identify specific regions for the functional connectivity analyses, we first performed a regional frequency analysis of spontaneous resting state oscillations. Frequency power differences showed that women with increased BMI had a greater mean amplitude in the LF and MF bands relative to the entire frequency spectrum in left NAcc and bilateral ACC and vmPFC, (i.e. regions of the extended reward network). The fact that no significant correlations were found between the left NAcc volume and oscillatory amplitude in the MF or LF bands suggests that there is no simple relationship between structural and resting state differences.³⁸⁻⁴⁰

While the functional consequences of differences in regional brain oscillations are not fully understood,^{31, 41} we may speculate about possible interpretations relevant to ingestive behavior and obesity. One interpretation of increased frequency power in lower bands (including both LF and MF bands) is that it reflects reduced neuronal firing.^{41, 42} Reduced activity in the NAcc could reflect the loss of Dopamine 2 Receptors (D2Rs) in this brain region which has previously been reported in obese subjects, and is associated with impaired DA signaling⁴³ and a decrease in the inhibitory role of the NAcc.⁴⁴ Reduced activity in the ACC and vmPFC could also reflect altered DA signaling as decreased availability of striatal D2Rs has previously been linked to decreased activity in the PFC and ACC in both obesity and drug addiction.^{45, 46} These cortical regions are involved in inhibitory control.⁴⁷ It has been hypothesized that reduced engagement of the PFC/ACC contributes to the lack of behavioral control in individuals with different forms of addiction.⁶

The separation of frequency bands used in this analysis was based on the observation that behaviorally relevant brain oscillations have linearly distributed center frequencies on the natural logarithmic scale.²⁵ Even though the functional relevance of differences obtained with this

analysis method are incompletely understood, ^{41, 42, 48, 49}, it has been used in several published reports.^{15, 30, 38-40, 50, 51} For example, variability in frequency power has been studied in mild cognitive impairment⁵⁰ as well as Parkinson's where treatment-related changes in frequency power of motor cortex/basal ganglia have been related to motor performance.^{15, 51} Kilpatrick et. al. identified band-specific BOLD fluctuation differences after ingestion of high-sucrose compared with low-sucrose beverages in the nucleus tractus solitarius which also demonstrated altered band specific functional connectivity.³⁰ These studies provide support that band-specific alterations in frequency power are functionally relevant and can be used to identify affected brain regions with altered activity/connectivity.³⁰

Increased NAcc functional connectivity with cortical reward-related regions in subjects with high BMI

The increased functional connectivity between the left NAcc cluster with the ACC and vmPFC in the high BMI group compared to the lean group in this study is similar to findings reported in individuals addicted to nicotine and other drugs.^{52, 53} In heroin users,⁵⁴ the observed increased functional connectivity between regions involved in reward, craving, and motivation (e.g. between NAcc, ACC, and OFC) were thought to be related to compulsive behaviors characteristic of heroin addicts. An increase in functional connectivity between the NAcc and cortical control regions has also been observed in other compulsive disorders, not related to substance abuse.^{53, 55} For example, in Obsessive Compulsive Disorder patients, greater functional connectivity of the ACC with regions including the NAcc is suggested to contribute to the loss of control observed in these subjects.⁵⁵

Limitations

The unilateral structural and functional alterations observed for the (left) NAcc may be a consequence of sample size (as a trend was observed for the right NAcc), or it may reflect a true laterality. Future studies in larger populations need to address this question. There is limited information on the interpretation of frequency band oscillations and their physiological significance. Given that activation of brain regions through a task has been shown to shift frequency distribution towards higher frequencies,⁵⁶ one possible interpretation of the increased lower frequency power is that these regions are less active; however, other interpretations are possible.^{41, 42} For example, band-specific alterations in frequency power may reflect altered balance between local processing versus long-range inputs with increased MF power reflecting greater local processing. It has also been suggested that examining functional connectivity of various bands would have similar physiological implications.³¹

No autonomic measures were collected to address how they might impact RS measures.^{57, 58} However, we controlled for possible influences of autonomic activity on resting state oscillations by regressing out nuisance variables and focusing on bands less influenced by physiological noise (LF, MF). Since the subjects used in the study were collected from a database, we did not have consistent information in regards to dietary habits, fasting, appetite, and hunger. As a result, we were not able to correlate the observed biological abnormalities with behavioral patterns of food intake. Also, due to the nature of the data collection, time of day for the scans is variable. Finally, the study was performed only in female subjects. Several studies have reported sex-related differences in obesity, addiction and related neurobiology^{12, 59, 60} and it is therefore likely that findings may differ in a male population.

Summary and Clinical Implications

Our results demonstrating structural, functional and connectivity alterations in women with increased BMI support the important role of alterations within the extended reward network, including inhibitory cortical control mechanisms that can lead to the ingestive behaviors which are more driven by hedonic as opposed to metabolic aspects of food intake. As the subjects in this study were only selected by their differences in BMI and not by differences in behavioral measures of food intake (such as measures of food addiction), the findings suggest that such an increased influence of reward driven mechanism is likely to be present to varying degrees in obese subjects in general. However, the alteration may become the predominant mechanism in subjects with increasing scores on the food addiction questionnaire.⁷ Future studies are needed to validate these observations in a larger group of male and female subjects with different degrees of behavioral food addiction, and to determine the potential use of these measures as a potential neurobiological biomarker for subsets of obese individuals. If confirmed, such biomarkers could be used to enrich patients for therapeutic trials, and to evaluate the effectiveness of therapeutic interventions.

Tables

Table 1. Subject Clinical Characteristics

	Lean	Overweight and	F	p-value
	N=31	Obese		
		N=19		
Age (yr)	Mean: 25.42 Range: 18-38 SD: 5.86	Mean: 27.05 Range: 19-40 SD: 7.03	.940	.337
BMI (kg/m²)	Mean: 22.32 Range: 19.52- 25.09 SD: 1.85	Mean: 31.83 Range: 25.88- 37.56 SD: 3.35	145.730	<.001
HAD Depression	Mean: .50 SD: 1.34	Mean: 1.64 SD: 2.09	.361	.552
HAD Anxiety	Mean: 2.17 SD: 2.84	Mean: 3.71 SD: 1.64	2.301	.139
NEO Neuroticism	Mean: 40.96 SD: 11.26	Mean: 45.64 SD: 10.49	.268	.610
ETI:				
Total	3.08 (3.11)	5.50 (4.53)	1.010	.324
General	1.44 (1.16)	2.07 (1.83)	.701	.410
Physical	.78 (1.22)	1.40 (1.77)	.805	.378
Emotional	.37 (1.12)	1.40 (1.77)	.651	.427
Sexual	.41 (1.05)	.53 (.74)	.003	.957

BMI: Body Mass Index;

HAD: Hospital Anxiety and Depression;

ETI: Early Traumatic Inventory

P values significant: .05*, .01**
Table 2: Differences in Nucleus Accumbens Volumes Between Obese/Overweight and

Lean Females

	Lean Women	Overweight and Obese Women	F-value (Left NAcc vs. Right NAcc)	p-value
Left NAcc	569.76	636.25	4.963	.031*
Right NAcc	479.11	532.96	2.989	.091

NAcc: nucleus accumbens

p-values significant: .05*, .01**

	Coordinate (x,y,z)	Cluster value (k)	p-value (FWE)*	Z-score
Greater MF (0.027-0.073 Hz) power in Obese/Overweight compared to Lean				
L NAcc	(-14, 12, -12)	21	0.009	4.29
Greater LF (0.01-0.027 Hz) power in Obese/Overweight compared to Lean				
L ACC	(-6, 52, -6)	212	<.001	6.00
R ACC	(0, 52, -4)	62	0.014	4.71
L vmPFC	(-6, 54, -18)	130	<.001	5.14
R vmPFC	(4, 48, -14)	35	0.034	4.00

Table 3: fALFF Analysis for Medium Frequency (MF) and Low Frequency (LF) Bands

Comparing groups in a fractional amplitude of low-frequency fluctuation (fALFF) band analysis, greater frequency power was observed in certain brain ROIs associated with reward in the Medium MF (0.027-0.073 Hz) and Low LF (0.01-0.027 Hz) bands for the overweight and obese group. The results for the following regions were not significant: hippocampus, orbital frontal cortex, amygdala, insula, caudate, putamen, pallidum. No regions were found to have greater frequency power in the lean group. *p value listed were observed after correction for multiple comparisons NAcc= Nucleus Accumbens, ACC = Anterior Cingulate Cortex, vmPFC = Ventromedial Prefrontal Cortex, L = left, R = right.

Table 4: Nucleus Accumbens (NAcc) Functional Connectivity in Overweight and Obese >

Lean

	Coordinate (x,y,z)	Cluster value (K)	p-value (FWE)*	Z-score	
Greater NAcc MF functional connectivity (0.027-0.073 Hz) in Obese/Overweight compared to Lean					

L ACC	(-2 42 12)	43	0.024	3.71	
R ACC	(8 34 -14)	53	0.024	4.08	
L vmPFC	(-14 16 -16)	2	0.154	4.34	
R vmPFC	(6 34 -16)	28	0.0315	4.04	
Greater NAcc LF functional connectivity (0.01-0.027 Hz) in Obese/Overweight compared to Lean					
L ACC	(-14 38 -12)	49	0.03	3.78	
R ACC	(12 46 -12)	13	0.063	3.43	
L vmPFC	(-2 34 -16)	24	0.051	3.49	
R vmPFC	(10 34 -20)	17	0.051	3.82	

Using the nucleus accumbens (NAcc) as a seed, greater functional connectivity was observed in the overweight and obese compared to the lean in both the MF (0.027-0.073 Hz) and LF (0.01-0.027 Hz) bands for the tested ROIs (bilateral ACC and VMPFC). ROIs chosen based upon significant results of the fALFF analysis (Table 3). No regions were found to have greater functional connectivity in the lean group. *p value observed after correction for multiple comparisons. NAcc= Nucleus Accumbens, ACC = Anterior Cingulate Cortex, vmPFC = Ventromedial Prefrontal Cortex, L = left, R = right.

Figures

Figure 1. Correlation Between Left Nucleus Accumbens (NAcc) and Body Mass Index (BMI)



Significant positive correlations were seen for the left nucleus accumbens (NAcc) volume with increasing body mass index (BMI) (r=.351, p=0.013).

Figure 2. Correlation Between Frequency Power in the Medium Band (MF) for the Left Nucleus Accumbens (NAcc) and Body Mass Index (BMI)



Significant positive correlations were seen for the frequency power in the medium band (0.027-0.073 Hz) for the left nucleus accumbens (NAcc) with increasing body mass index (BMI) (r=.352, p=.012).

Figure 3: Fractional amplitude of low-frequency fluctuation (fALFF) analysis in the overweight and obese group compared to the lean group for both A) Medium (MF: 0.027-0.073 Hz) and B) Low (LF: 0.01-0.027 Hz) frequency bands



In the MF band (A), greater frequency power was observed in the left nucleus accumbens (NAcc).

In the LF band (B), greater frequency power was observed in the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) and ventromedial prefrontal cortex (vmPFC).

Figure 4. Functional Connectivity analysis of left nucleus accumbens (NAcc) with other reward-based regions in the overweight and obese group compared to lean



Functional Connectivity analysis using the left nucleus accumbens (NAcc) as a seed region showed greater functional connectivity in the overweight and obese group (compared to lean) with reward-based regions of altered frequency identified in the fALFF analysis.

In the MF band (A), greater connectivity observed between the seed region and the ACC, and R VMPFC.

In the LF band (B), greater functional connectivity was observed between the seed region and L ACC.

References

- 1. Havel PJ. Peripheral signals conveying metabolic information to the brain: short-term and longterm regulation of food intake and energy homeostasis. *Experimental biology and medicine* 2001; **226**(11): 963-77.
- 2. Morton GJ, Meek TH, Schwartz MW. Neurobiology of food intake in health and disease. *Nature reviews. Neuroscience* 2014; **15**(6): 367-78.
- DiLeone RJ, Taylor JR, Picciotto MR. The drive to eat: comparisons and distinctions between mechanisms of food reward and drug addiction. *Nature neuroscience* 2012; 15(10): 1330-5.

- 4. Volkow ND, Wang GJ, Baler RD. Reward, dopamine and the control of food intake: implications for obesity. *Trends in cognitive sciences* 2011; **15**(1): 37-46.
- 5. Mayer EA. Gut feelings: the emerging biology of gut-brain communication. *Nature reviews. Neuroscience* 2011; **12**(8): 453-66.
- 6. Volkow ND, Wang GJ, Tomasi D, Baler RD. Obesity and addiction: neurobiological overlaps. *Obesity reviews : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity* 2013; **14**(1): 2-18.
- 7. Pedram P, Wadden D, Amini P, Gulliver W, Randell E, Cahill F *et al.* Food addiction: its prevalence and significant association with obesity in the general population. *PloS one* 2013; **8**(9): e74832.
- 8. Kenny PJ. Reward mechanisms in obesity: new insights and future directions. *Neuron* 2011; **69**(4): 664-79.
- 9. Demos KE, Heatherton TF, Kelley WM. Individual differences in nucleus accumbens activity to food and sexual images predict weight gain and sexual behavior. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 2012; **32**(16): 5549-52.
- 10. Carnell S, Gibson C, Benson L, Ochner CN, Geliebter A. Neuroimaging and obesity: current knowledge and future directions. *Obesity reviews : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity* 2012; **13**(1): 43-56.
- 11. Garcia-Garcia I, Jurado MA, Garolera M, Segura B, Marques-Iturria I, Pueyo R *et al.* Functional connectivity in obesity during reward processing. *NeuroImage* 2012; **66C:** 232-239.
- 12. Horstmann A, Busse FP, Mathar D, Muller K, Lepsien J, Schlogl H *et al.* Obesity-Related Differences between Women and Men in Brain Structure and Goal-Directed Behavior. *Frontiers in human neuroscience* 2011; **5**: 58.
- 13. Schafer A, Vaitl D, Schienle A. Regional grey matter volume abnormalities in bulimia nervosa and binge-eating disorder. *NeuroImage* 2010; **50**(2): 639-43.
- 14. Zou QH, Zhu CZ, Yang Y, Zuo XN, Long XY, Cao QJ *et al.* An improved approach to detection of amplitude of low-frequency fluctuation (ALFF) for resting-state fMRI: fractional ALFF. *Journal of neuroscience methods* 2008; **172**(1): 137-41.

- 15. Kwak Y, Peltier SJ, Bohnen NI, Muller ML, Dayalu P, Seidler RD. L-DOPA changes spontaneous low-frequency BOLD signal oscillations in Parkinson's disease: a resting state fMRI study. *Frontiers in systems neuroscience* 2012; **6**: 52.
- Brown VM, Labar KS, Haswell CC, Gold AL, Mid-Atlantic MW, Beall SK *et al.* Altered Resting-State
 Functional Connectivity of Basolateral and Centromedial Amygdala Complexes in Posttraumatic Stress Disorder. *Neuropsychopharmacology : official publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology* 2014; **39**(2): 361-369.
- 17. Volkow ND, Wang GJ, Fowler JS, Tomasi D, Baler R. Food and drug reward: overlapping circuits in human obesity and addiction. *Current topics in behavioral neurosciences* 2012; **11**: 1-24.
- Sheehan DV, Lecrubier Y, Sheehan KH, Amorim P, Janavs J, Weiller E *et al.* The Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (M.I.N.I.): the development and validation of a structured diagnostic psychiatric interview for DSM-IV and ICD-10. *The Journal of clinical psychiatry* 1998; **59 Suppl 20**: 22-33;quiz 34-57.
- 19. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. 4*, American Psychiatric Association Washington, DC, 1994.
- 20. Organization WH. International Statistical Classification of Disease and Related Health Problems, Tenth Revision (IDC-10), World Health Organization Geneva, 2004.
- 21. Mykletun A, Stordal E, Dahl AA. Hospital Anxiety and Depression (HAD) scale: factor structure, item analyses and internal consistency in a large population. *The British journal of psychiatry : the journal of mental science* 2001; **179:** 540-4.
- 22. Smith SM, Zhang Y, Jenkinson M, Chen J, Matthews PM, Federico A *et al.* Accurate, robust, and automated longitudinal and cross-sectional brain change analysis. *Neuroimage* 2002; **17**(1): 47989.
- 23. Woolrich MW, Jbabdi S, Patenaude B, Chappell M, Makni S, Behrens T *et al.* Bayesian analysis of neuroimaging data in FSL. *Neuroimage* 2009; **45**(1 Suppl): S173-86.
- 24. Chao-Gan Y, Yu-Feng Z. DPARSF: A MATLAB Toolbox for "Pipeline" Data Analysis of Resting-State fMRI. *Frontiers in systems neuroscience* 2010; **4:** 13.

- Buzsaki G, Draguhn A. Neuronal oscillations in cortical networks. *Science* 2004;
 304(5679): 1926-9.
- 26. Zuo XN DMA, Kelly C, Shehzad ZE, Gee DG, Klein DF, Castellanos FX, Biswal BB, Milham MP. The oscillating brain: complex and reliable. *NeuroImage* 2010; **49**(2): 1432-45.
- 27. Poldrack RA. Region of interest analysis for fMRI. *Social cognitive and affective neuroscience* 2007; **2**(1): 67-70.
- 28. Benjamini Y, Hochberg Y. Controlling the False Discovery Rate a Practical and Powerful Approach to Multiple Testing. *J Roy Stat Soc B Met* 1995; **57**(1): 289-300.
- 29. Pike N. Using false discovery rate for multiple comparisons in ecology and evolution *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 2011; **2**(3): 278-282.
- 30. Kilpatrick LA, Coveleskie K, Connolly L, Labus JS, Ebrat B, Stains J *et al.* Influence of sucrose ingestion on brainstem and hypothalamic intrinsic oscillations in lean and obese women. *Gastroenterology* 2014; **146**(5): 1212-21.
- 31. Song X, Zhang Y, Liu Y. Frequency specificity of regional homogeneity in the restingstate human brain. *PloS one* 2014; **9**(1): e86818.
- 32. Salomon RM, Cowan RL, Rogers BP, Dietrich MS, Bauernfeind AL, Kessler RM *et al.* Time series fMRI measures detect changes in pontine raphe following acute tryptophan depletion. *Psychiatry research* 2011; **191**(2): 112-21.
- 33. Brett M AJ, Valabregue R, Poline JB. Region of interest analysis using an SPM toolbox. *NeuroImage* 2002; **16**(2): abstract 497.
- 34. Xu X, Aron A, Westmaas JL, Wang J, Sweet LH. An fMRI study of nicotine-deprived smokers' reactivity to smoking cues during novel/exciting activity. *PloS one* 2014; **9**(4): e94598.
- 35. IBMCorp. *IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 21.0*, IBM Corp. : Armonk, NY, 2012.

- 36. Karlsson AK, Kullberg J, Stokland E, Allvin K, Gronowitz E, Svensson PA *et al.* Measurements of total and regional body composition in preschool children: A comparison of MRI, DXA, and anthropometric data. *Obesity* 2013; **21**(5): 1018-24.
- 37. Van den Eynde F, Suda M, Broadbent H, Guillaume S, Van den Eynde M, Steiger H *et al.* Structural magnetic resonance imaging in eating disorders: a systematic review of voxel-based morphometry studies. *European eating disorders review : the journal of the Eating Disorders Association* 2012; **20**(2): 94-105.
- 38. Guo W, Song Y, Liu F, Zhang Z, Zhang J, Yu M *et al.* Dissociation of functional and anatomical brain abnormalities in unaffected siblings of schizophrenia patients. *Clinical neurophysiology : official journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology* 2014.
- 39. Hu S, Chao HH, Zhang S, Ide JS, Li CS. Changes in cerebral morphometry and amplitude of lowfrequency fluctuations of BOLD signals during healthy aging: correlation with inhibitory control. *Brain structure & function* 2014; **219**(3): 983-94.
- 40. Han Y, Lui S, Kuang W, Lang Q, Zou L, Jia J. Anatomical and functional deficits in patients with amnestic mild cognitive impairment. *PloS one* 2012; **7**(2): e28664.
- 41. Fox MD, Raichle ME. Spontaneous fluctuations in brain activity observed with functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Nature reviews. Neuroscience* 2007; **8**(9): 700-11.
- 42. Pan WJ, Thompson GJ, Magnuson ME, Jaeger D, Keilholz S. Infraslow LFP correlates to restingstate fMRI BOLD signals. *NeuroImage* 2013; **74:** 288-97.
- 43. Wang GJ, Volkow ND, Logan J, Pappas NR, Wong CT, Zhu W *et al.* Brain dopamine and obesity. *Lancet* 2001; **357**(9253): 354-7.
- 44. Russo SJ, Nestler EJ. The brain reward circuitry in mood disorders. *Nature reviews. Neuroscience* 2013; **14**(9): 609-25.
- 45. Goldstein RZ, Volkow ND. Drug addiction and its underlying neurobiological basis: neuroimaging evidence for the involvement of the frontal cortex. *The American journal of psychiatry* 2002; **159**(10): 1642-52.
- 46. Volkow ND, Wang GJ, Fowler JS, Telang F. Overlapping neuronal circuits in addiction and obesity: evidence of systems pathology. *Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological sciences* 2008; **363**(1507): 3191-200.

- 47. Bush G, Luu P, Posner MI. Cognitive and emotional influences in anterior cingulate cortex. *Trends in cognitive sciences* 2000; **4**(6): 215-222.
- 48. Xue SW, Li D, Weng XC, Northoff G, Li DW. Different neural manifestations of two slow frequency bands in resting fMRI: A systemic survey at regional, inter-regional, and network levels. *Brain connectivity* 2014.
- 49. Yu R, Chien YL, Wang HL, Liu CM, Liu CC, Hwang TJ *et al.* Frequency-specific alternations in the amplitude of low-frequency fluctuations in schizophrenia. *Human brain mapping* 2014; **35**(2): 627-37.
- 50. Han Y, Wang J, Zhao Z, Min B, Lu J, Li K *et al.* Frequency-dependent changes in the amplitude of low-frequency fluctuations in amnestic mild cognitive impairment: a resting-state fMRI study. *NeuroImage* 2011; **55**(1): 287-95.
- 51. Esposito F, Tessitore A, Giordano A, De Micco R, Paccone A, Conforti R *et al.* Rhythmspecific modulation of the sensorimotor network in drug-naive patients with Parkinson's disease by levodopa. *Brain : a journal of neurology* 2013; **136**(Pt 3): 710-25.
- 52. Gu H, Salmeron BJ, Ross TJ, Geng X, Zhan W, Stein EA *et al.* Mesocorticolimbic circuits are impaired in chronic cocaine users as demonstrated by resting-state functional connectivity. *NeuroImage* 2010; **53**(2): 593-601.
- 53. Hong LE, Gu H, Yang Y, Ross TJ, Salmeron BJ, Buchholz B *et al.* Association of nicotine addiction and nicotine's actions with separate cingulate cortex functional circuits. *Archives of general psychiatry* 2009; **66**(4): 431-41.
- 54. Ma N, Liu Y, Li N, Wang CX, Zhang H, Jiang XF *et al.* Addiction related alteration in resting-state brain connectivity. *NeuroImage* 2010; **49**(1): 738-44.
- 55. Cheng Y, Xu J, Nie B, Luo C, Yang T, Li H *et al.* Abnormal resting-state activities and functional connectivities of the anterior and the posterior cortexes in medication-naive patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder. *PloS one* 2013; **8**(6): e67478.
- 56. Baria AT, Baliki MN, Parrish T, Apkarian AV. Anatomical and functional assemblies of brain BOLD oscillations. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 2011; **31**(21): 7910-9.

- 57. Fan J, Xu P, Van Dam NT, Eilam-Stock T, Gu X, Luo YJ *et al.* Spontaneous brain activity relates to autonomic arousal. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* 2012; **32**(33): 11176-86.
- 58. Iacovella V, Hasson U. The relationship between BOLD signal and autonomic nervous system functions: implications for processing of "physiological noise". *Magnetic resonance imaging* 2011; **29**(10): 1338-45.
- 59. Lovejoy JC, Sainsbury A, Stock Conference Working G. Sex differences in obesity and the regulation of energy homeostasis. *Obesity reviews : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity* 2009; **10**(2): 154-67.
- 60. Fattore L, Melis M, Fadda P, Fratta W. Sex differences in addictive disorders. *Frontiers in neuroendocrinology* 2014; **35**(3): 272-284.

CHAPTER FIVE

Background: The Impact of Satiety Hormones on the Brain

The Role of the Gut Brain Axis in Ingestive Behavior

Overview

The impact of gut peptides on the brain in the regulation of ingestive behavior is an area of great interest, since the involved signaling mechanisms may be potential targets for the treatment of obesity. Both endocrine, paracrine and neurocrine (vagal) signaling pathways are involved in gut to brain signaling of nutrient related information(1). Human studies have demonstrated that long acting hormones like leptin and insulin act on brain regions such as the hypothalamus and brainstem, influencing both food intake and response(2). More short-term gut signals relayed by hormones such as CCK and PYY have also been shown in humans to have an effect on subcortical regions, including the hypothalamus, NTS, and thalamus), as well as cortical regions like the insula and anterior cingulate cortex(2). Whereas CCK infusion in healthy subjects resulted in increased activity primarily in homeostatic brain regions (hypothalamus, brainstem), PYY infusions were associated with increased activity in regions of reward circuits (orbitalfrontal cortex, insula, anterior cingulate cortex). The central effects of GLP-1 in humans have not been as thoroughly studied(2).

GLP-1/Exenatide and The Brain

GLP-1

Glucagon like Peptide-1 (GLP-1) is a gut hormone synthesized in ileal L cells of the small intestine and released postprandially in response to carbohydrates and fat(3). Like other gut peptides, GLP-1 exerts its actions via endocrine and via paracrine/vagal signaling pathways. Its primary function is to stimulate insulin secretion from pancreatic beta cells and the peptide is therefore referred to as an incretin. GLP-1 is also produced in the vagal nucleus of the solitary track(4), a brainstem region which plays a central role in the regulation of satiety.

GLP-1 has multiple actions including the suppression of glucagon release, the slowing of gastric emptying, and the increase of glucose utilization in the liver. GLP-1's influence on glucose homeostasis has made it a prime candidate for regulating glucose metabolism in patients with diabetes(5). Studies of GLP-1 in diabetes have reported the hormone to be linked to a decrease in food intake and an increase expression of satiety(6, 7, 8). Surgery induced increases in postprandial GLP-1 levels have been implicated in the observed weight loss following bariatric surgery(3). However, the mechanism(s) by which GLP-1 exerts its inhibitory effect on food intake and resulting weight loss are not fully known.

Exenatide

Due to its short half-life, synthetic GLP-1 receptor agonists such as Exenatide are used to provide long term GLP-1 receptor stimulation(9). Exenatide is a synthetic variant of exendin-4, a hormone extracted from the saliva of the Gila monster that bears 50% amino acid homology to GLP-1. Exenatide is FDA approved for the long term treatment of diabetes. Studies looking at the impact of Exenatide have reported that similar to GLP-1, the drug reduces food consumption and leads to weight loss, even though the effect of the drug on feelings of satiety or hunger have been inconsistent(3, 8).

The impact of GLP-1 when it comes to obesity and weight loss is becoming clearer, but the role of the brain and how GLP-1 might impact its structure and function is less studied. The production of GLP-1 in the nucleus of the solitary tract suggests the hormone has an impact on the brain. The nucleus of the solitary tract sends projections to the hypothalamus and to interoceptive regions within the brain's homeostatic network(10, 11). Vagal signaling to the hypothalamus and thalamus is also likely to play a crucial role in mediating the impact of GLP-1 on ingestive behavior(12). Alterations of this signaling has been implicated in the

pathophysiology of obesity(13) and this study aims to help define what those drug-induced alterations might be and how they would differ between health lean and obese women.

Exenatide Pharmacokinetics

Exenatide pharmacokinetics have been studied in patients with type 2 diabetes. In this population, subcutaneous administration of 10-mcg of Exenatide reached median peak plasma concentration in 2.1 hours. The mean peak Exenatide concentration (C_{max}) was 211 pg/ML and overall mean area under the time-concentration curve (AUC _{0-inf}) was 1036 pg*h/mL. Exenatide exposure increased proportionally over the therapeutic dose range of 5 mcg to 10mcg. The C_{max} values increased less proportionally over the same range. Gender and race do not influence the distribution and elimination of Exenatide. Similar exposure is achieved with subcutaneous administration of BYETTA in the abdomen, thigh, or upper arm. In most individuals, Exenatide concentrations are measurable for approximately 10 hours post-dose (14).

References

- 1. Holst JJ. The physiology of glucagon-like peptide 1. *Physiol Rev* 2007;**87:** 1409-1439.
- 2. Ahima RS. Boosting gut endocrinology with brain imaging. *Gastroenterology* 2010;**139**: 375-376.
- 3. Torekov SS, Madsbad S, Holst JJ. Obesity an indication for GLP-1 treatment? Obesity pathophysiology and GLP-1 treatment potential. *Obesity reviews : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity* 2011;**12:** 593-601.
- 4. Lockie SH. Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor in the brain: role in neuroendocrine control of energy metabolism and treatment target for obesity. *Journal of neuroendocrinology* 2013;**25:** 597-604.
- 5. Salehi M, Aulinger B, Prigeon RL, D'Alessio DA. Effect of endogenous GLP-1 on insulin secretion in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 2010;**59:** 1330-1337.
- 6. le Roux CW, Batterham RL, Aylwin SJ, Patterson M, Borg CM, Wynne KJ, *et al.* Attenuated peptide YY release in obese subjects is associated with reduced satiety. *Endocrinology* 2006;**147:** 3-8.
- 7. Pinelli NR, Jantz A, Smith Z, Abouhassan A, Ayar C, Jaber NA, *et al.* Effect of administration time of exenatide on satiety responses, blood glucose, and adverse events in healthy volunteers. *J Clin Pharmacol* 2011;**51:** 165-172.
- 8. Linnebjerg H, Park S, Kothare PA, Trautmann ME, Mace K, Fineman M, *et al.* Effect of exenatide on gastric emptying and relationship to postprandial glycemia in type 2 diabetes. *Regul Pept* 2008;**151:** 123-129.
- 9. Torekov SS, Kipnes MS, Harley RE, Holst JJ, Ehlers MR. Dose response of subcutaneous GLP-1 infusion in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Obes Metab* 2011;**13:** 639-643.
- 10. Craig AD. A new view of pain as a homeostatic emotion. *Trends Neurosci* 2003;**26:** 303-307.
- 11. Craig AD. An ascending general homeostatic afferent pathway originating in lamina I. *Prog Brain Res* 1996;**107:** 225-242.

- 12. Kanoski SE, Fortin SM, Arnold M, Grill HJ, Hayes MR. Peripheral and central GLP-1 receptor populations mediate the anorectic effects of peripherally administered GLP-1 receptor agonists, liraglutide and exendin-4. *Endocrinology* 2011;**152**: 3103-3112.
- 13. Mayer EA. Gut feelings: the emerging biology of gut-brain communication. *Nature reviews Neuroscience* 2011;**12:** 453-466.
- 14. Amylin Pharmaceuticals I. Byetta [package insert]. 2010.

CHAPTER SIX

Manuscript: The Effect of the GLP-1 Analogue Exenatide on Functional Connectivity within an NTS-Based Network in Lean and Obese Females

Abstract

Objective: To investigate the differential effect of the GLP-1 agonist Exenatide on the functional connectivity of brain networks and behavioral data in healthy lean and obese females. Methods: Following an 8 hour fast, 19 healthy female subjects (11 lean, 8 obese) participated in a two-day double blind crossover study. Subjects underwent functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) at fast and 30 minutes after a subcutaneous injection of 5ugs Exenatide or placebo. Functional connectivity was examined using seeds for the Nucleus Tractus Solitaries (NTS). Drug-induced functional connectivity changes within and between groups and correlations between functional connectivity and appetite measures were examined in a region of interest approach focusing on the thalamus and hypothalamus. **Results**: When compared to the lean group, the obese subjects reported less hunger after drug injection. Exenatide administration increased functional connectivity of the left NTS with the left thalamus and hypothalamus in the obese group only. Exenatide increased the positive correlation between NTS functional connectivity and hunger scores in all subjects, but more so in the obese. **Conclusions:** 1. Obesity can impact the effects of Exenatide on brain connectivity. 2. The drug's impact on appetite control might be linked to modified connectivity in an NTS-based network.

Introduction

Glucagon like Peptide 1 (GLP-1) receptor agonists have shown to improve glucose control, decrease food intake, accelerate weight loss and increase satiety (1, 2, 3). Increases in postprandial GLP-1 levels have also been implicated in the observed weight loss following bariatric surgery (1, 4). Because of these effects, the role of GLP-1 in the regulation of food intake has been evaluated (5).

GLP-1 is primarily released from L cells in the distal gut, but it is also produced in the vagal nucleus of the solitary tract (NTS) (6), a brainstem region which plays a central role in the regulation of satiety. The NTS sends projections to the hypothalamus and interoceptive regions within the brain's homeostatic network (including thalamus and insular cortex) (7, 8). Vagal signaling to the hypothalamus and thalamus is likely to play a crucial role in mediating the impact of GLP-1 on ingestive behavior (11) and abnormalities in this signaling have been implicated in the pathophysiology of obesity (9). While findings from rodent studies emphasize the important interactions between GLP-1 and NTS on body weight control and human studies have shown reduced appetite in human subjects in response to Liraglutide and other GLP-1 agonists, the central mechanisms of this molecule are incompletely understood (10, 11).

Functional brain imaging techniques help bridge the gap between clinical observation and underlying neurobiological mechanisms. Measuring intrinsic brain oscillations during resting conditions has demonstrated altered functional connectivity of specific brain regions in clinical conditions including obesity (12). We have previously demonstrated altered NTS functional connectivity with the hypothalamus between lean and obese women while looking at images of palatable food after consuming a caloric beverage (13). These brain changes were correlated with alterations in taste ratings determined by a questionnaire, linking functional connectivity abnormalities in the NTS and hypothalamus to ingestive behavior (13).

Based on our previous observations of differential functional connectivity in obese and lean subjects, the current study aimed to measure the impact of the GLP-1 analog Exenatide on the intrinsic functional connectivity of the NTS with other brain regions. By studying resting state activity in healthy lean and obese female subjects, we aimed to test the following hypotheses: 1) Exenatide changes functional connectivity between NTS and the thalamus and hypothalamus, 2) These drug-induced changes in functional connectivity are different in lean and obese females, and 3) The alterations in NTS functional connectivity are correlated with behavioral measures related to eating such as calories consumed at a meal and subjective feelings of hunger.

Methods

Subject Selection

Nineteen healthy female subjects, ages 18-40, were recruited through the Oppenheimer Family Center for Neurobiology of Stress from flyers and website advertisements. The sample included 11 lean females (mean age: 25.09± 4.83 years old) with a Body Mass Index (BMI) range of 19.52-24.74 kg/m² and 8 obese females (mean age: 26.62±7.63 years old) with a BMI range of 30.72-37.56 kg/m². All subjects were right-handed, premenopausal and in the follicular phase of the menstrual cycle by self-report, and classified as healthy after a clinical assessment that included a modified Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview Plus 5.0(14), a brief structured interview for major Axis I psychiatric disorders in DSM-IV(15) and ICD-10 (16). Further exclusion criteria included pregnancy, substance abuse, tobacco dependence, evidence of cardiovascular, gastrointestinal, hepatic, neurologic, or psychiatric illness, diabetes, high blood glucose levels (<200mg/dl), strenuous exercise (more than 8 hours/week), and any eating disorders. Subjects were also excluded if they were currently on medication such as analgesics or antidepressants, had used any diet aids in the last month, had undergone any obesity-reduction surgeries, were not able to undergo an MRI, or could not eat one of three meal options. Throughout the study, subjects were asked to report any feelings of nausea. The subjects provided written informed consent and all procedures were reviewed and approved by the UCLA Medical Institutional Review Board.

Study Paradigm

Subjects came in for three visits, a screening visit to determine their eligibility followed by two nearly identical MRI visits where they received either the drug or saline placebo injection in a randomized, double-blinded fashion. All scanning began in the morning after at least eight hours of fasting (subjects did not eat breakfast). Blood glucose levels were determined to be within the range of 65-126mg/dl. Brain scans were obtained at a pre-injection baseline and at 25 min after drug/placebo administration. Blood samples were obtained at fasting, before the drug/placebo injection and at 25, 35 and 60 min after drug administration. Scores for hunger/satiety levels using a 100-point visual analogue scale were obtained at the same time as the blood draws. After scanning, subjects were taken to a general clinical research area and given a pre-selected 1000 calorie meal composed of 30% fat, 20% protein, and 50% carbohydrates and were instructed to "eat until you are full". Meals were measured before and after consumption to determine calories consumed.

The basic protocol is reflected in Figure 1.

MRI protocol

Before placement into the scanner, subjects completed the Patient-Reported Outcome Measurement Information Systems (PROMIS) (17) and the Hospital Anxiety and Depression questionnaire (18). Following placement in the scanner, subjects underwent a 3 minute alignment true fast imaging with steady-state free precession (TRUFI) scan before a baseline 10 minute resting state scan during which they were asked to lie still with their eyes closed and instructed not to fall asleep. After the resting scan, subjects were removed from the scanner to receive either a subcutaneous injection of 5ug of Exenatide or a 0.5cc injection of saline (placebo) in the deltoid (upper arm) area. After the injection, subjects were moved back into the

scanner for a 9 minute standard T1-weighted magnetization-prepared rapid acquisition gradient echo (MP-RAGE) structural scan followed by a 10-min resting state scan that was completed 25-30 minutes after the injection.

Resting State Data Acquisition and Preprocessing

Functional MRI resting state scans were acquired on a Siemens 3 Tesla Trio scanner. The ten minute scans were acquired with an echo planar sequence with the following parameters: TE = 28ms, TR = 2000ms, flip angel = 77 degrees, FOV = 220mm, slices = 40, slice thickness = 4.0mm. Slices were obtained with whole-brain coverage.

Image processing and data analysis were performed using Statistical Parametric Mapping 8 (SPM8) software (Wellcome Department of Cognitive Neurology, London). Processing was done through the SPM toolbox, Data Processing Assistant for Resting-State fMRI (DPARSF) (19). Data was slice-time, motion corrected, and nuisance covariate regression was preformed to minimize physiological noise using six head motion parameters, white matter signal and cerebrospinal fluid signal. Data were spatially normalized to the Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) template using the MP-RAGE structural scan which was acquired with the following parameters: TE = 3.26 ms, TR = 2200ms, slices = 176, slice thickness = 1.0mm, voxel size = 1x1x1mm. Spatial smoothing with a 4mm³ Gaussian kernel occurred after calculation of connectivity maps (19).

Blood Sample Processing

Blood samples were sent to outside laboratories for processing. Tamdem Labs California used an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) to determine plasma concentration of Exenatide (20, 21).

Data Analyses

Clinical/Behavioral Characteristics

Analyses of clinical characteristics (age, Body Mass Index (BMI), education, anxiety, depression), behavioral measures (calorie consumption, fullness questionnaires), and blood levels of Exenatide were performed in SPSS 22 (22). Clinical characteristics were evaluated using t-tests to compare group means (lean; obese). Anxiety and depression scores were compared separately for each day (screening day, drug day, placebo day). Levels of Exenatide were compared between each group (lean; obese) by both day (drug; placebo) and time postinjection (35 min; 60 min). In order to determine calorie consumption, a GLM was run looking at group (lean: obese) x day (drug; placebo) using blood levels of Exenatide as a covariate. Behavioral measures from the fullness questionnaire were analyzed with ANOVAs looking at group (lean; obese) x time (baseline; 35min post-injection, 60min post-injection) and changes over time (i.e. 60 min post-injection > 35 min post-injection) for changes between days (drug day – placebo day).

Seed-based Functional Connectivity of the NTS

Using MarsBar (23), an NTS seed cluster was defined by a 4mm sphere around the peak NTS coordinate determined by Kilpatrick et al (13). Left and right clusters were defined separately. The functionally defined NTS cluster is simply referred to as the NTS in results and discussion

sections. Fisher transformed maps of the bivariate correlation between the NTS seed timecourse and all other voxels were created using DPARSF (19) for the left and right NTS. Based on significant results from Kilpatrick et al, this was done for a specific low frequency band (0.01-0.027 Hz) (13, 24). The resulting functional connectivity maps were analyzed in a flexible factorial General Linear Model (GLM) in SPM8 to compare group data (obese; lean) x day (drug; placebo) x scan (pre-injection; post-injection). The order of the drug day was included as a factor in the model to account for any order effects. Age and blood levels of Exenatide were used as covariates. Using a region of interest (ROI) approach similar to other studies (12, 25), contrasts were performed to identify regions with altered connectivity with the NTS before or after the drug versus placebo, looking at both within and between group differences. Anatomically-based ROIs were created using the Wake Forest University PickAtlas toolbox in SPM8. Hypothalamus and thalamus ROIs were chosen based on previous literature defining them as regions associated with the NTS in hunger and satiety signaling (9). Images were thresholded at p=.001, uncorrected and small volume corrections was applied to determine significance at p<.05, corrected for family wise error (FWE) rate. False discovery rate (FDR) was applied to control for the type I error inherent in testing multiple ROIs (26, 27). Cluster size was limited to Ke>3.

Functional Connectivity Correlations with Behavior

A multiple regression model in SPM8 was used to determine group differences in the association of calorie consumption and fullness questionnaire scores with functional connectivity of the NTS seed regions and designated ROIs described above. Blood levels of Exenatide, age, and order of the drug day were used as covariates. The questionnaire responses selected for the correlational analysis were those that showed significant group differences in the behavioral SPSS analyses, which related to hunger. Contrast images were created to identify drug-induced changes in the correlation between functional connectivity and behavioral measure

both within and between groups, as well as differences at the pre-injection baseline. Images were thresholded at p=.001, uncorrected and small volume correction was employed to determine significance of the ROI at p<.05 FWE with additional FDR correction to account for multiple comparisons (26, 27). Cluster size was limited to Ke>3.

Results

Clinical Characteristics

There were no statistically significant group differences in age or any clinical variable other than BMI (Table 1). With all subjects in the clinically normal range, the two groups did not differ on any visit in anxiety symptom scores (screening: F=3.46, p=.080; placebo day: F=1.233, p=.282; drug day: F=3.28, p=.088) or depression symptom scores (screening: F=4.139, p=.058; placebo day: F=.370, p=.552; drug day: F=.306, p=.558) (Table 1).

Exenatide Levels

Both groups showed significantly higher levels of Exenatide in blood on the drug day compared to placebo day at all time points (p<.001) (Supplemental Table 1, Supplemental Figure 1). During the drug day, the lean group had higher plasma levels of Exenatide than the obese group both at 35 minutes (161pg/mL vs 97.5pg/mL), lean vs obese (p=.004) and 60 minutes (238.3pg/mL vs 147.5pg/mL, lean vs obese p=.001) after injection, but both groups showed an increase of the drug between those times (p=.007). Due to the pharmacokinetic value differences between the groups, all subsequent analyses used the level of Exenatide in the blood as a covariate.

Glucose Levels

All subjects combined on the drug day showed a decrease in mean blood glucose levels at both 35 minutes (77.35 mg/dl vs 86.56 mg/dl) and 60 minutes (75.87 mg/dl vs 86.56 mg/dl) after Exenatide injection compared to the placebo day (p<.001). Both lean and obese groups showed a significant reduction in mean blood glucose levels on the drug day between baseline and both 35 and 60 minutes post injection [lean baseline (83.8mg/dl) vs 35 minutes (75.90 mg/dl), p= 0.026; lean baseline vs 60 minutes (73.78 mg/dl), p= 0.030; obese baseline (90.57mg/dl) vs 35 minutes (79.43mg/dl), p=0.007; obese baseline vs 60 minutes (78.57mg/dl), p=0.004]. There were no significant differences between lean and obese groups (Supplemental Figure 2).

Hunger and Appetite Measures

There were no statistically significant group differences in calorie consumption on drug (468.21kcal vs 620.25kcal p=.109, F=1.27) or placebo (569.10kcal vs 652.81kcal p=.275, F=2.86) days. However, trends suggest both groups consumed less calories on the drug day and that the obese group consumed more calories on both days than the lean group (Figure 2). Regarding hunger scores, the only significant change was seen in the obese group on the day of the Exenatide injection (versus the placebo injection), when they reported to be less hungry than the lean group 35 minutes after drug injection (8.63 vs -8.75; p=.035) and have a greater decrease in hunger scores after eating the provided meal (7.27 vs -10.00; p=.025). No significant group differences in hunger were observed before injection (Table 2). No group differences were observed for satiety levels.

Functional Connectivity of the NTS

No differences in functional connectivity were observed at baseline between day or group. After Exenatide administration, in comparison to the placebo, the obese group demonstrated increased functional connectivity of the left NTS with the left thalamus and left hypothalamus. No drug-induced connectivity change was observed in the lean group. For the right NTS seed, the obese group, compared to the lean group, showed greater functional connectivity with the left thalamus after drug administration versus the placebo (Table 3, Figure 3).

NTS Functional Connectivity and Behavioral Correlates

Calorie Consumption. For all subjects combined, there was a significant increase in the correlation between calorie consumption and functional connectivity of the right NTS with the right hypothalamus following Exenatide administration (versus placebo), (Table 4A, and Figure 4A). No group differences of significant correlations were observed before or after the drug injection. No subject consumed the entire meal.

Hunger Ratings. At baseline, lean subjects showed a statistically greater correlation between hunger scores and functional connectivity of the right NTS with the left thalamus [(-10 -16 16), p=.004, Ke=87, z=4.69] than obese subjects. After Exenatide injection (versus placebo), all subjects combined demonstrated a positive correlation between subjective feelings of hunger and functional connectivity of the right NTS with the right hypothalamus. Obese subjects had a statistically greater correlation between the hunger ratings and functional connectivity of the right NTS with the left thalamus compared to lean subjects and obese subjects only showed a correlation between hunger scores and functional connectivity of the left NTS with the left the lef

thalamus (Table 4B, Figure 4B-D). No correlations were seen between NTS connectivity and satiety scores.

Discussion

The aim of this study was to identify brain and behavioral effects of the GLP-1 analog, Exenatide and evaluate how these effects differ between lean versus obese women. We show that Exenatide impacts both brain networks and behaviors related to hunger and satiety, generally with a greater impact in the obese.

Effect of Exenatide on Functional Connectivity of the NTS

Exenatide administration, in comparison to placebo, resulted in increased NTS functional connectivity with the thalamus and hypothalamus in the obese subjects. Specifically, an Exenatide-induced increase in NTS functional connectivity was seen in the obese only between the left NTS with the left hypothalamus and thalamus. For the right NTS, the functional connectivity with the left thalamus was statistically greater in the obese when compared to the lean group.

The brainstem, specifically the NTS, and the hypothalamus are regions associated with regulation of food intake and ingestive behavior (3). The bidirectional connection between these two regions is involved in integrating peripheral signals from hormones in the regulation of satiety (3) and differences in hypothalamus connectivity between lean and obese patients has been shown to be reduced after successful bariatric surgery (28). This increased connectivity in response to the drug suggests an Exenatide-induced alteration of satiety signaling in obese

individuals. Previous reports have suggested a decreased sensitivity to GLP-1 in obesity and have connected reduced endogenous GLP-1 and reduced GLP-1 receptor activation to weight gain (29). Imaging studies have linked increased receptor availability to increased functional connectivity in the brain. An exogenous GLP-1 agonist might be working to overcome a decreased sensitivity in the obese and the Exenatide-induced increase in functional connectivity we observed more so in the obese group could be reflective of the drug's ability to increase GLP-1 receptor activity in a depressed system.

This study also showed that after Exenatide injection, the obese group demonstrated significantly greater functional connectivity between the NTS and the thalamus compared to the lean group. Regions of the thalamus, particularly the paraventricular area, receive input from the NTS, and these inputs are thought to play a role in homeostatic regulation of food intake (30). A greater increase in functional connectivity with the thalamus in the obese could indicate that Exenatide may modulate homeostatic regulation of food intake differently in this group compared to more lean individuals.

Effect of Exenatide on Hunger and Appetite Measures

As previously reported, the behavioral results of this study confirmed that Exenatide impacts feeding behaviors showing changes in both calorie consumption and hunger levels in both lean and obese subjects (2, 3).

Despite the greater reduction in their hunger scores after Exenatide, obese subjects consumed more calories than lean subjects on both the Exenatide test day and placebo day. This finding could point to altered satiety signal processing, as suggested by several studies in animals and humans that have shown obesity-related resistance to satiety signals such as leptin, insulin, and GLP-1 at brain areas associated with eating control including the hypothalamus (29, 31, 32). It

is conceivable that the administration of Exenatide can overcome a baseline obesity-related resistance to GLP-1 satiety signals in obese women, whereas Exenatide in the lean women may have a more immediate and dramatic impact on calorie consumption. The observed difference in hunger levels in the obese subjects might also, in part, be attributed to other factors associated with adiposity and obesity (33).

Functional Connectivity Correlations with Behaviors Related to Appetite

When all subjects were combined, a stronger correlation between calorie consumption and functional connectivity of the right NTS with the left hypothalamus was observed after Exenatide injection. Exenatide has been shown to increase hypothalamic connectivity with the rest of the brain in obese non-diabetic male subjects while subjects were viewing pictures of food (34). Our study suggests an Exenatide-induced strengthening of the relationship between NTS connectivity with the hypothalamus and calorie consumption that can be observed independent of exposure to visual food cues.

All subjects combined also showed a stronger Exenatide-induced correlation between subject hunger ratings and functional connectivity between the right NTS and right hypothalamus. The NTS is a known relay for vagal information from the gut and projects to the hypothalamus, which in turn, communicates with emotion-regulating and higher cortical centers to generate sensations of hunger. Our results suggest the Exenatide-induced functional connectivity between these regions plays a role in subjective feelings of hunger, regardless of BMI.

At baseline, before Exenatide administration, we found a stronger correlation between subjective hunger and functional connectivity of the right NTS and left thalamus in the lean compared to the obese group. However, after Exenatide administration, the obese group demonstrated a stronger relationship between hunger and functional connectivity of the NTS

with the left thalamus, suggesting the drug's greater impact in strengthening the perhaps depressed engagement of an NTS-based network with feelings of hunger in the obese.

Limitations

The current results, obtained in a relatively small sample, will require validation in a larger sample. Several studies have reported sex-related brain differences in obesity and eating behavior, indicating that obese females have a greater brain response to food in regions associated with emotional processing and motivation (35). Larger studies would need to be performed to examine potential resting state differences between males and females.

There were also several measurements not collected that would have helped refine the results of this study. Resting state data may be influenced by factors beyond our measure, such as gastric emptying or other satiety hormones. Although we focused analyses on a frequency band less influenced by physiological noise, autonomic functions have been demonstrated to affect resting state information (36). Although we asked subjects to report any feelings of nausea and none did, nausea is a known side effect of GLP-1 agonists, and the NTS also plays a role in feelings of nausea, and could impact other brain changes in this region(37). Also, although the varying levels of blood Exenatide were considered for our analyses, future studies would benefit from taking a weighted dosage of Exenatide based on body fat composition or body weight. Future studies with more subjects would also benefit from more specific hypotheses and analyses for specific areas within a brain region known to be involved in the processing of food-related signaling from the gut.

Although BMI is the current clinically-used measure of obesity, it has been argued that other measures such as visceral fat or waist circumference may be better measures (38, 39). This study also did not take into account any potential individual variants in the causes of obesity. Subsequent studies might benefit from examining factors such as food addiction, genetics,

family history, stress, etc. to determine if there are any such measures that might differentiate the impact of Exenatide on brain connectivity results.

Summary and Clinical Implications

The release of several satiety hormones, including GLP-1, is stimulated by nutrient ingestion and modulates the response of the central nervous system to food intake. GLP-1 stimulation, both in the periphery and within the brain, can impact the interpretation of hunger and satiety signaling. An imbalance or misinterpretation of these signals is thought to play a role in obesity (9). While several studies examined the impact of GLP-1 analogs like Exenatide on stimulated brain responses, few have examined the impact of the drug on the resting brain. The current study demonstrates that following the acute administration of Exenatide, obese female subjects demonstrate a statistically significant decrease in the subjective feeling of hunger, and an associated increase in functional connectivity of the NTS, with the hypothalamus and thalamus, regions associated with eating behaviors. Exenatide also increased the positive correlation between the NTS-based functional connectivity and subjective feelings of hunger in all subjects, with a significantly greater impact in the obese group. As clinical trials are being conducted using GLP-1 analogs as a potential weight loss treatment (11, 40), the study of these hormones and their impact on the brain in obesity and obesity reduction is key to a complete understanding of the physiological mechanisms and potential effectiveness in the clinic.

Tables

	Lean N=11	Obese N=8	F	p-value
Age (yr)	Mean: 25.09	Mean: 26.62		
	Range: 21-36	Range: 19-39	538	.598
	SD: 4.83	SD: 7.63		

Table 1. Subject Clinical Characteristics
BMI (kg/m2)	Mean: 21.38	Mean: 34.08		
	Range: 19.52-	Range: 30.72-	168 54	< 001**
	24.74	37.56	100.04	<.001
	SD: 1.92	SD: 2.35		
Education	Mean: 4.55	Mean: 4.00	305	599
	SD: 2.34	SD: 1.78	.305	.000
HAD Anxiety				
Screening	Mean: 2.91	Mean: 5.50	3 46	080
	SD: 3.21	SD: 2.67	5.40	.000
Placebo Day	Mean: 3.00	Mean: 4.75	1 000	202
	SD: 4.05	SD: 2.12	1.235	.202
Drug Day	Mean: 2.54	Mean: 5.00	2 20	000
	SD: 3.59	SD: 1.51	5.20	.000
HAD				
Depression				
Screening	Mean: .727	Mean: 1.87	4 120	059
-	SD: 1.01	SD: 1.46	4.159	.056
Placebo Day	Mean: 1.09	Mean: 1.63	270	550
-	SD: 2.21	SD:1.30	.370	.332
Drug Day	Mean:1.18	Mean: 1.75	206	500
	SD: 2.56	SD: 1.58	.300	.000

BMI: Body Mass Index

HAD: Hospital Anxiety and Depression

P values significant: .05*, .01**

Education scoring: 1=8th grade or less; 2=Some high school; 3=High school graduate; 4=Some college; 5=College graduate; 6=Any post-graduate work

Table 2. Fullness Questionnaire Response

Q: How Hungry Do You Feel?					
Group	Time Point	Mean	SD		
Lean	Baseline	0	29.07		
	+35 minutes	8.63	16.14		
	+ 60 minutes	2.73	16.33		
	+35 > Baseline	8.64	31.71		
	+60 > Baseline	2.73	37.77		
	+60 > +35 minutes	7.27	18.08		
Obese	Baseline	-8.75	36.03		

	+35 minutes	-5.00	5.34
	+ 60 minutes	-2.50	3.78
	+35 > Baseline	3.75	38.89
	+60 > Baseline	6.25	34.10
	+60 > +35 minutes	-10.00	9.64
Group Difference	Time Point	F	p-value
Lean vs Obese	Baseline	.344	.565
	+35 minutes	5.221	.035
	+ 60 minutes	.777	.390
	+35 > Baseline	.091	.766
	+60 > Baseline	.044	.837
	+60 > +35 minutes	6.00	.025
Q: How Full Do You F	eel?		
Group	Time Point	Mean	SD
Lean	Baseline	5.45	13.62
	+35 minutes	-4.55	16.35
	+ 60 minutes	-3.64	13.80
	+35 > Baseline	-10.00	19.34
	+60 > Baseline	-9.09	18.00
	+60 > +35 minutes	-1.36	26.00
Obese	Baseline	625	21.78
	+35 minutes	7.50	10.35
	+ 60 minutes	-3.12	6.51
	+35 > Baseline	8.12	22.67
	+60 > Baseline	3.75	21.84
	+60 > +35 minutes	14.37	23.37
Group Difference	Time Point	F	p-value
Lean vs Obese	Baseline	.555	.467
	+35 minutes	3.338	.085

+ 60 minutes	1.635	.218
+35 > Baseline	3.52	.078
+60 > Baseline	1.97	.178
+60 > +35 minutes	1.844	.192

Asked the question "How hungry do you feel?", the obese group reported to be less hungry 35 minutes after Exenatide injection versus placebo. The obese group also had a greater decrease in hunger on the drug day (versus placebo day) after eating the meal (versus before the meal). No group differences were observed with the question "how full do you feel?" All scores are drug day minus placebo day.

Contrast:	Lean	Obese	Obese> Lean	Lean> Obese	Lean + Obese
Region:					
L NTS Funct	tional Connectiv	vity			
L HYP					
Coordinate		(-6 -4 -12)			
Cluster		5			
(ne)		000*			
p-value		.026*			
z-score		3.38			
R HYP					
Coordinate					
Cluster					
(Ke)					
p-value					
z-score					
L Thalamus		(20, 26, 8)			(14, 26, 16)
Coordinate		(-20 -30 0)			(-14 -20 10)
(Ke)		40			13
p-value		.028*			.055
z-score		4.86			3.77
R Thalamus					

Table 3. Impact of Exenatide on NTS Functional Connectivity

Coordinate		(10 -24 12)	(6 - 36 4)		
Cluster		7	13		
(Ke)					
p-value		.054	.108		
z-score		3.79	3.56		
R NTS Func	tional Connecti	vity			
L HYP					
Coordinate					
Cluster					
(Ke)					
p-value					
z-score					
R HYP					
Coordinate					
Cluster					
(Ke)					
p-value					
z-score					
L	(decreased				
Thalamus	functional				
	connectivity)				
Coordinate	(-18 -24 4)	(-10 -16 18)	(-10 -16 16)		
Cluster	14	8	51		
(Ke)			0.000		
p-value	.125	.140	.022*		
z-score	3.51	3.47	4.51		
R					
Inalamus			(0, 0, 40)		
Coordinate			(8-812)		
Cluster			32		
(rke)			000*		
p-value			.022^		
z-score			4.4/		

Using the nucleus of the solitary tract (NTS) as a seed, Exenatide administration resulted in greater functional connectivity in the obese group for both right and left seeds in a low frequency band (0.01-0.027 Hz) for hypothalamus and thalamus ROIs. For the left NTS, this change was not seen in the lean group and for the right NTS, this change was greater in the obese than the lean group. Combining groups, greater functional connectivity was observed in the left NTS.

*p-value observed after correction for multiple comparisons. NTS = nucleus of the solitary tract, L = left, R = right.

Table 4. Exenatide Induced NTS Functional Connectivity Correlations with AppetiteMeasures

A. NTS Functional Connectivity and Calorie Consumption

Group	Region	Coordinate (x,y,z)	Cluster value (K)	p- value (FWE)	Z- score
L NTS Fu	nctional Conne	ectivity			I
Correlatio	n with Calorie	Consumption			
Obese	L Thalamus	(-20 -36 8)	25	.051	3.74
	R Thalamus	(24 -26 16)	8	.144	3.39
Obese +	L Thalamus	(-18 -36 10)	16	.058	3.69
Lean	R Thalamus	(24 - 24 16)	5	.200	3.27
R NTS Fu	Inctional Conne	ectivity			
Correlatio	n with Calorie	Consumption			
Obese	R Thalamus	(0 -2 4)	20	.126	3.45
Obese >	L Thalamus	(-8 14 16)	16	.078	3.38
Lean	R Thalamus	(6 -6 12)	15	.119	3.47
Obese +	R HYP	(2 -4 8)	11	.008*	3.69
Lean	L Thalamus	(0 -2 2)	9	.030*	3.90
	R Thalamus	(0 -2 2)	32	.064	3.90

All contrasts significant at p.001 uncorrected for Drug-Placebo, RSS3-RSS1 unless otherwise noted

B. NTS Functional Connectivity Correlation with Hunger Ratings

Group	Region	Coordinate (x,y,z)	Cluster value (K)	p- value (FWE)	Z- score	
L NTS Funct	ional Connectiv	vity				
Correlation v	vith Hunger					
Obese	L Thalamus	(-20 -36 8)	69	.024*	4.20	
	R Thalamus	(24 -26 16)	17	.054	3.94	
Obese +	L Thalamus	(-20 -34 10)	36	.062	3.67	
Lean	R Thalamus	(24 - 24 16)	9	.107	3.50	
R NTS Functional Connectivity						
Correlation v	vith Hunger					
Lean	L Thalamus	(-16 -24 4)	13	.113	3.48	
(decreased						
correlation)						
Obese	L Thalamus	(-12 -18 18)	23	.048	3.76	
Obese >	L Thalamus	(10 - 16 16)	75	.002*	4.76	
Lean	R Thalamus	(8 -8 12)	17	.100	3.54	
Obese +	R HYP	(4 -2 -6)	4	.022*	3.39	
Lean	R Thalamus	(4 -4 -2)	16	.083	3.60	

All contrasts significant at p.001 uncorrected for Drug-Placebo, RSS3-RSS1 unless otherwise noted

Functional Connectivity of the nucleus of the solitary tract (NTS) seed with the hypothalamus and thalamus were observed to be correlated with behavioral measures as a result of Exenatide administration. A. Calorie consumption was observed to be correlated with NTS functional connectivity in the obese group only for the left NTS seed and in both groups combined for the right NTS seed. B. Subject hunger ratings were observed to be correlated with NTS functional connectivity in the obese group for the left NTS seed and in both groups combined for the right NTS seed. B. Subject hunger ratings were observed to be correlated with NTS functional connectivity in the obese group for the left NTS seed and in the obese group more significantly than in the lean group in the right NTS.

*p-value observed after correction for multiple comparisons. NTS= nucleus of the solitary tract, L=left, R=right

Figures

Figure 1: Basic Scan Day Protocol



Subjects were brought in after at least 8 hours of fasting. Scans were done both pre and post subcutaneous injection of either drug or saline placebo. After scanning, subjects were given a meal. Blood draws and questionnaires were given before scanning and 35 and 60 minutes after injection.



Figure 2. Calorie Consumption of lean versus obese subjects of a post-scan meal

Trends show that both lean and obese groups consumed fewer calories on the day of the Exenatide injection versus the placebo day and that the obese group consumed more calories on both days.

Figure 3A and 3B. Functional Connectivity Analysis of NTS with thalamus and hypothalamus in obese compared to lean



(A)The obese group showed increased left NTS functional connectivity with the left thalamus and the left hypothalamus and (B) compared to the lean group showed increased right NTS functional connectivity with the left thalamus. Color bars reflect t-values.

Figure 4A, 4B, 4C and 4D. NTS Functional Connectivity Correlation Analysis with Calorie Consumption and Hunger



(A) All subjects together showed a positive correlation between calories consumed of a meal and functional connectivity of the right NTS with the right hypothalamus and left thalamus. (B) At baseline before scanning, the lean group showed a greater correlation between hunger and right NTS functional connectivity with the left thalamus. After Exenatide injection (versus placebo), (C) all subjects combined had a correlation between hunger and right NTS functional connectivity with the right hypothalamus and (D) the obese group had a greater correlation between hunger and right NTS functional connectivity with the left thalamus. Color bars reflect t-values.



Supplemental Figure 1: Post-Injection PK Values

Both lean and obese groups had significantly greater levels of Exenatide in the blood on the day of Exenatide injection compared to placebo injection. They also both had greater levels of Exenatide 60 minutes post injection versus 35 minutes post injection. Comparing groups, the lean group had greater levels of Exenatide in their bloodstream both at 35 (p.=.004) and 60 (p=.004) minutes after injection. *p>.05 **p>.001.



Supplemental Figure 2 : Mean Glucose Blood Levels

Both lean and obese groups had significantly reduced levels of mean blood glucose as a result of Exenatide both 35 (lean p=0.026, obese p=0.007) and 60 (lean p=0.030, obese p=0.004) minutes post-injection compared to a pre-injection baseline. There were no significant differences between the lean and obese groups at any timepoint.

References

- 1. Carel W. le Roux RW, Malin Werling, Alan Osborne, Alexander Kokkinos, Anna Laurenius, Hans Lonroth, Lars Fadnriks, Mohammad A. Ghatei, Stephen R. Bloom, Torsten Olbers. Gut Hormones as Mediators of Appetite and Weight Loss After Roux-en-Y Gastric Bypass *Annals of Surgery* 2007;**246:** 780-785.
- 2. Pinelli NR, Jantz A, Smith Z, Abouhassan A, Ayar C, Jaber NA, *et al.* Effect of administration time of exenatide on satiety responses, blood glucose, and adverse events in healthy volunteers. *J Clin Pharmacol* 2011;**51:** 165-172.
- 3. van Bloemendaal L, Ten Kulve JS, la Fleur SE, Ijzerman RG, Diamant M. Effects of glucagon-like peptide 1 on appetite and body weight: focus on the CNS. *The Journal of endocrinology* 2014;**221:** T1-16.
- 4. Torekov SS, Madsbad S, Holst JJ. Obesity an indication for GLP-1 treatment? Obesity pathophysiology and GLP-1 treatment potential. *Obesity reviews : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity* 2011;**12:** 593-601.
- 5. Holst JJ. The physiology of glucagon-like peptide 1. *Physiol Rev* 2007;**87:** 1409-1439.
- 6. Lockie SH. Glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor in the brain: role in neuroendocrine control of energy metabolism and treatment target for obesity. *Journal of neuroendocrinology* 2013;**25:** 597-604.
- 7. Craig AD. An ascending general homeostatic afferent pathway originating in lamina I. *Prog Brain Res* 1996;**107:** 225-242.
- 8. Craig AD. A new view of pain as a homeostatic emotion. *Trends Neurosci* 2003;**26:** 303-307.
- 9. Mayer EA. Gut feelings: the emerging biology of gut-brain communication. *Nature reviews Neuroscience* 2011;**12:** 453-466.
- 10. Zoicas F, Droste M, Mayr B, Buchfelder M, Schofl C. GLP-1 analogues as a new treatment option for hypothalamic obesity in adults: report of nine cases. *Eur J Endocrinol* 2013;**168:** 699-706.

- 11. Vilsboll T, Christensen M, Junker AE, Knop FK, Gluud LL. Effects of glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists on weight loss: systematic review and meta-analyses of randomised controlled trials. *BMJ* 2012;**344:** d7771.
- 12. Coveleskie K, Gupta A, Kilpatrick LA, Mayer ED, Ashe-McNalley C, Stains J, *et al.* Altered functional connectivity within the central reward network in overweight and obese women. *Nutr Diabetes* 2015;**5**: e148.
- 13. Kilpatrick LA, Coveleskie K, Connolly L, Labus JS, Ebrat B, Stains J, *et al.* Influence of sucrose ingestion on brainstem and hypothalamic intrinsic oscillations in lean and obese women. *Gastroenterology* 2014;**146:** 1212-1221.
- 14. Sheehan DV, Lecrubier Y, Sheehan KH, Amorim P, Janavs J, Weiller E, *et al.* The Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (M.I.N.I.): the development and validation of a structured diagnostic psychiatric interview for DSM-IV and ICD-10. *The Journal of clinical psychiatry* 1998;**59 Suppl 20:** 22-33;quiz 34-57.
- 15. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders.* 4. American Psychiatric Association Washington, DC, 1994.
- 16. Organization WH. International Statistical Classification of Disease and Related Health Problems, Tenth Revision (IDC-10). World Health Organization Geneva, 2004.
- 17. Yu L, Buysse DJ, Germain A, Moul DE, Stover A, Dodds NE, *et al.* Development of short forms from the PROMIS sleep disturbance and Sleep-Related Impairment item banks. *Behav Sleep Med* 2011;**10:** 6-24.
- 18. Mykletun A, Stordal E, Dahl AA. Hospital Anxiety and Depression (HAD) scale: factor structure, item analyses and internal consistency in a large population. *The British journal of psychiatry : the journal of mental science* 2001;**179:** 540-544.
- 19. Chao-Gan Y, Yu-Feng Z. DPARSF: A MATLAB Toolbox for "Pipeline" Data Analysis of Resting-State fMRI. *Frontiers in systems neuroscience* 2010;**4:** 13.
- 20. Lopez A. Validation of an Immunoenzyetric Assay (IEMA) for the Quantification of Exenatide (AC2993) in Human K2EDTA Plasma. San Diego, CA, Tandem Labs 2010.
- 21. Lopez A. Validation of an Immunoenzymetric Assay (IEMA) for the Quantification of Exenatide (AC2993) in Human K2EDTA Plasma Addendum 1. San Diego, CA, Tandem Labs 2013.
- 22. IBMCorp. *IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 21.0.* IBM Corp. : Armonk, NY, 2012.

- 23. Brett M AJ, Valabregue R, Poline JB. Region of interest analysis using an SPM toolbox. *NeuroImage* 2002;**16:** abstract 497.
- 24. Buzsaki G, Draguhn A. Neuronal oscillations in cortical networks. *Science* 2004;**304**: 1926-1929.
- 25. Poldrack RA. Region of interest analysis for fMRI. *Social cognitive and affective neuroscience* 2007;**2:** 67-70.
- 26. Benjamini Y, Hochberg Y. Controlling the False Discovery Rate a Practical and Powerful Approach to Multiple Testing. *J Roy Stat Soc B Met* 1995;**57:** 289-300.
- 27. Pike N. Using false discovery rate for multiple comparisons in ecology and evolution *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 2011;**2:** 278-282.
- 28. van de Sande-Lee S, Pereira FR, Cintra DE, Fernandes PT, Cardoso AR, Garlipp CR, *et al.* Partial reversibility of hypothalamic dysfunction and changes in brain activity after body mass reduction in obese subjects. *Diabetes* 2011;**60:** 1699-1704.
- 29. Duca FA, Sakar Y, Covasa M. Combination of obesity and high-fat feeding diminishes sensitivity to GLP-1R agonist exendin-4. *Diabetes* 2013;**62:** 2410-2415.
- 30. Otake K, Ruggiero DA, Nakamura Y. Adrenergic innervation of forebrain neurons that project to the paraventricular thalamic nucleus in the rat. *Brain research* 1995;**697:** 17-26.
- 31. Williams DL, Hyvarinen N, Lilly N, Kay K, Dossat A, Parise E, *et al.* Maintenance on a high-fat diet impairs the anorexic response to glucagon-like-peptide-1 receptor activation. *Physiology & behavior* 2011;**103:** 557-564.
- 32. Matheny M, Shapiro A, Tumer N, Scarpace PJ. Region-specific diet-induced and leptininduced cellular leptin resistance includes the ventral tegmental area in rats. *Neuropharmacology* 2011;**60:** 480-487.
- 33. Tschop M, Weyer C, Tataranni PA, Devanarayan V, Ravussin E, Heiman ML. Circulating ghrelin levels are decreased in human obesity. *Diabetes* 2001;**50:** 707-709.
- 34. Schlogl H, Kabisch S, Horstmann A, Lohmann G, Muller K, Lepsien J, *et al.* Exenatideinduced reduction in energy intake is associated with increase in hypothalamic connectivity. *Diabetes care* 2013;**36:** 1933-1940.

- 35. Geliebter A, Pantazatos SP, McOuatt H, Puma L, Gibson CD, Atalayer D. Sex-based fMRI differences in obese humans in response to high vs. low energy food cues. *Behavioural brain research* 2013;**243:** 91-96.
- 36. Iacovella V, Hasson U. The relationship between BOLD signal and autonomic nervous system functions: implications for processing of "physiological noise". *Magnetic resonance imaging* 2011;**29:** 1338-1345.
- 37. Kanoski SE, Rupprecht LE, Fortin SM, De Jonghe BC, Hayes MR. The role of nausea in food intake and body weight suppression by peripheral GLP-1 receptor agonists, exendin-4 and liraglutide. *Neuropharmacology* 2012;**62:** 1916-1927.
- 38. Shah NR, Braverman ER. Measuring adiposity in patients: the utility of body mass index (BMI), percent body fat, and leptin. *PloS one* 2012;**7:** e33308.
- 39. Dobbelsteyn CJ, Joffres MR, MacLean DR, Flowerdew G. A comparative evaluation of waist circumference, waist-to-hip ratio and body mass index as indicators of cardiovascular risk factors. The Canadian Heart Health Surveys. *International journal of obesity and related metabolic disorders : journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity* 2001;**25**: 652-661.
- 40. Macconell L, Pencek R, Li Y, Maggs D, Porter L. Exenatide once weekly: sustained improvement in glycemic control and cardiometabolic measures through 3 years. *Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes* 2013;**6**: 31-41.

CHAPTER SEVEN

General Conclusions, Major Limitations and Future Perspectives

General Conclusions

Dysregulation of Homeostatic and Hedonic Networks in Obesity

It has been theorized that in obesity, there is an imbalance between brain networks involved in homeostatic and reward related signaling. While not the first studies to shows this possibility, the series of studies in this dissertation provides further evidence that a brain dysregulation associated with obesity exists, and that obese individuals respond differently to a drug which stimulates the actions of a known satiety hormone.

This dysregulation was observed firstly with the viewing of food pictures after consuming a calorie beverage. Although the obese group reported reduced behavioral response, they demonstrated a greater brain response compared to the lean subjects. In particular, there seemed to be a disconnect between appetite-related questionnaire response and brain response when it came to hedonic activity, with the obese group reporting less satisfied by a caloric drink, yet indicating greater reward or craving in the brain with the viewing of food images. Beyond a reward network, this disparity could reflect abnormalities in brain networks involved in translating a reward response to a change in eating behavior. This disconnect with behavior was also observed in the drug study where obese women showed a trend to eat more despite reporting to be less hungry after the drug injection.

A difference in the interpretation of reward response was also observed in obese subjects at rest (without the food images prompt). Both analyses examining grey matter volume of the nucleus accumbens as well as frequency fluctuations and functional connectivity in a resting brain, demonstrated differences between groups of healthy obese and lean women, particularly in a nucleus accumbens-based hedonic network. The increase in frequency fluctuations and in functional connectivity observed in the obese group compared to the lean suggest a clear dysfunction in hedonic circuitry. These patterns in brain activation are similar to another

disorder known for having an imbalance or over-activation of hedonic drives – addiction, to be discussed in another section.

Although our studies cannot draw firm conclusions on the physiological significance of a larger nucleus accumbens volume in obese individuals, brain volume changes have been linked to changes in neuronal activity as well as changes in an inflammatory response (1, 2). Both of these options reflect potential mechanisms by which brain abnormalities occur in the obese. Certain regions of the brain have also been shown to fluctuate in size in response to changes in hormonal regulation, for example, as seen throughout a woman's menstrual cycle (3). Whether the changes are a result of degree in food intake or adipocyte signaling, it is not known how easily these changes may occur or how often they might fluctuate.

While examining a baseline resting state suggests a difference in a nucleus-accumbens based hedonic network, our study examining the impact of Exenatide, points to obesity-related abnormalities in an NTS-based homeostatic network. The drug, known to have an impact on satiety, altered the functional connectivity of regions associated with a homeostatic network with an increased functional connectivity observed in the obese group. This finding could suggest simply that Exenatide modulates homeostatic regulation of food intake differently in obese women. It could also suggest that the drug might be working to increase the engagement of a homeostatic network in a generally less sensitive system. This possibility supports the concept that obese subjects are less responsive to homeostatic signals about energy needs or that obese subjects have more resistance to satiety signals. Exenatide activates GLP-1 receptors so the increased of engagement of this NTS-based network as a result of the drug injection could reflect a baseline decrease in GLP-1 or GLP-1 receptor activation in our obese subjects. A more accurate assessment of GLP-1 receptor activity and any potential changes due to an exogenous GLP-1 receptor agonist could be done looking at receptor mRNA expression and positron emission tomography (PET) scans.

The drug-induced increase in functional connectivity was also associated with appetite-related behavioral measures including calorie consumption and hunger, suggesting a link between the brain changes and eating behaviors. All subjects showed these correlations but the obese had an even greater correlation between reported hunger and the NTS functional connectivity with the thalamus suggesting that perhaps this strengthening of a depressed engagement of a homeostatic network impacts the feelings of hunger in obese individuals.

Taken together, our studies' results suggest that perhaps the obese women's brain have an imbalance between hedonic and homeostatic networks. More specifically, we observed an increased response of a hedonic network reflective of altered interpretation of reward and our drug study suggested that our obese subjects had a reduced homeostatic response reflective of perhaps a less sensitive homeostatic network. It is hard to speculate whether this imbalance is a cause of, or result from having an increased BMI, but it is clear that obesity comes with abnormal brain networks. Future studies might tease this apart by delving into more longitudinal questions, examining the brain throughout development or before and after a successful weight loss program or bariatric surgery to see if and how these brain networks might change, or not, along with BMI.

Parallels Between Obesity and Addiction

Addiction, particularly drug addiction, has been well studied, and is known to impact hedonic networks in the brain related to reward and reward-processing. While food addiction is an acknowledged clinical condition, only a small percentage of people who are obese test to have a food addiction via the Yale Food Addiction Scale (4). The work in this dissertation suggests that at least on the level of brain organization, parallels between obesity and drug addiction might extend beyond those who have a verified addiction to food.

For our studies, when looking at images of palatable food, obese women had a greater response in the brain of a network which included regions associated with reward than a lean group. This network was even more responsive after the consumption of a high calorie sucrose drink (versus a non-nutrient lower calorie drink). Animals studies have suggested that mice can respond to sugar in a similar way as they respond to other drugs of addiction (5). Increased sugar consumption can be associated with obesity as well as functional connectivity changes in regions of reward in the brain (6), and could provide a valuable link to a potential cause of obesity. Studies in animals could help to explore some of the physiological mechanisms involved in obesity that might be similar to addiction as well as explain some of the observations made in our study looking at the impact of a sweet drink on obese women's brains.

Our resting state studies provide further similarities to studies of addiction. The increased frequency fluctuations in the resting brain of our obese group could potentially suggest a decrease in neuronal activity in these reward-related regions. This could reflect the same impairment in the dopamine system thought to underlie the pathophysiology of addiction. In drug addiction, the increase in intake of the drug results in a loss of dopamine 2 receptors in the nucleus accumbens which can disrupt the hedonic response. This reduced number of dopamine 2 receptors has also been shown in obesity (7), suggesting an increase of food intake could be interpreted in the brain in a similar manner to a drug addiction.

Our studies also observed an increase in functional connectivity between the nucleus accumbens and cortical areas of the brain for the obese subjects. This increase has also been observed in studies on drug and nicotine addicts and has been suggested to relate to issues with control and compulsivity (8, 9, 10). These resting stage differences in the obese women's brain compared to lean can provide several different insights but none as exciting as the potential link to types of addiction that are more well studied.

Brain imaging studies can provide much information but in order to examine more mechanistic or physiological underpinnings of a disorder, different approaches of study need to be included. Drug addiction studies have provided scientists with a wealth of information on all levels of study. If parallels can be made between obesity and drug addiction at the level of the brain, it might reflect a deeper connection between what is going on down to the level of the receptor or over to the level of behavior and behavior modification. Drug addiction treatment is also quite well studied and might provide some valuable insights when it comes to looking at potential treatments for obesity.

Using the Brain in Clinical Assessment and Treatment of Obesity

Obesity can be defined in many different ways including Body Mass Index (BMI), hip-waist ratio, and percent body fat composition. Obesity can be viewed as an eating disorder, an addiction, or simply as something that is co-morbid with other disorders such as diabetes or cardiovascular disease. Especially considering the variety of causes and presentations of obesity, the clinical assessment of what obesity is and how it should be viewed in health is not as clear cut as it has been described in the past.

The brain, particularly the resting brain, could be a valuable resource as a potential neurobiological biomarker for obesity as it allows for easy clinical assessment without any visual or task component. Also, the types of analyses we explored in the studies discussed in this dissertation could play a role in determining any variants of obesity and what it might mean for an individual's health. These analyses could easily be expanded to look at other factors that might influence the brain in obesity, including genetics, personality factors, or other seemingly unrelated individual diagnoses. Examining the resting brain and any intervention-induced

alterations might also be critical in assessing the effectiveness of various potential treatments of obesity.

Exenatide itself has been explored in use for weight-loss treatment (11, 12). Although, due to side effects, the drug itself will probably not come on the market for that purpose, it still might play a role in future treatment options either as a component of a multivariate treatment option or as a model for other drugs that would not have the same side effects. Knowing how Exenatide impacts the brain could provide valuable insights not just in unveiling how the drug works to impact the brain in obesity but also as a potential brain-reflective benchmark for other potential treatments.

Study Limitations

Limited sample size, measurements not taken or observed, and restrictions of analysis type are limitations for all of the studies mentioned within this dissertation. The study of homeostatic and hedonic networks upon viewing of food images after consumption of non-nutrient or sucrose beverages provided many insights, but was limited by a lack of a control group who didn't consume a beverage, and a failure to take into account body size when determining the quantity of beverage given. The study would have also benefited from additional measurements such as blood glucose levels and an increase in sample size, as several analyses did not have enough power to push certain results to a level of significance.

Examining baseline resting scans revealed obesity-related differences, but this study was limited by a lack of standardized measurements including autonomic measures known to have an impact on resting state, and behavioral questionnaires that could have provided further insight to how the brain differences may be correlated with other factors such as behavior

related to food intake. There is also limited information on the interpretation of frequency band oscillations and their physiological significance.

The Exenatide study is severely limited by the number of subjects examined. An increased sample size would have allowed for testing of any potential individual variants in the causes of obesity which would provide greater information about populations within an obese subject group that may be impacted differently by the drug. This study would have also benefited from a better way to test obesity based on fat composition and by taking into account the amount of subcutaneous fat to determine perhaps a more appropriate dosage of the drug. Finally, for any similar resting state study, further studies or analysis types might also look at the interaction between hedonic and homeostatic networks in their relation to obesity and food intake.

Future Perspectives

Obesity Study Expansions

The results presented within this dissertation could be seen as a great jumping off point for several different areas of study. A larger sample of healthy obese women would provide the opportunity for similar analyses to provide even more information including the exploration of different subtypes within an obese population, and how brain alterations might change based on factors such as genetics, personality type, food preferences, environment, or a number of other potentially differentiating factors. It would also be informative to gather a sample of obese individuals that is more reflective of the general population, even including men in order to investigate sex differences when it comes to obesity and the brain.

Our conclusions bring up the question of what is addiction in obesity. This is a topic that needs much further exploration to determine if we can lump obesity into a greater addiction category,

or if it perhaps needs a different definition to describe a similar pattern of altered reward networks in the brain. What exactly are the parallels and can we parse out some differences between a food-related addiction and drug addiction?

Finally, a greater sample of subjects given the Exenatide drug could give our analyses more power to explore more whole brain results, to look further at the hedonic network's response to the drug and to investigate any cross talk (or lack thereof) between homeostatic and hedonic brain regions.

Looking at Resting State Changes in Bariatric Surgery

One of the most successful and long lasting treatments of obesity is bariatric surgery. The shortening of the intestinal tract or reduction of stomach size through banding or stapling have all proven to have an impact on BMI reduction. Although the most proven treatment, bariatric surgery is not effective for everyone, especially in the long term. Brain imaging, and in particularly resting state analyses, could prove a useful tool in defining the impact of these types of surgeries as well as determining any qualities that may suggest in advance of the surgery if the person is a good candidate for successful and long-lasting weight reduction.

The next step in our ongoing studies of obesity and the brain is to use some of the brain imaging techniques we have been utilizing to undergo a long term study to examine the impact of bariatric surgery on the obese women's brain. The study will look at subjects before, as well as 3, 6, and 12 months after bariatric surgery. At each visit subjects will undergo a fMRI picture viewing paradigm, DTI, and resting scans, as well as answer questions about their feelings of hunger and satiety. The aims of this study are to characterize brain mechanisms underlying the effectiveness of bariatric surgery and to answer the question whether brain activity patterns can be used as predictors of adequate weight loss following the surgery.

The more general hypotheses of this study are: 1) Brain activity, connectivity patterns and white matter connections associated with subjective sensations of hunger and satiety will change after bariatric surgery and these changes will be associated with weight loss, 2) Subjective feelings of hunger and satiety and the brain representations of these sensations differ between patients who achieve adequate weight loss after bariatric surgery vs patients who do not, and 3) Resting state brain activity and evoked brain response to food and food cues can be used as moderators of treatment outcome (ie may predict success after bariatric surgery). For example, perhaps patients who show an abnormal hedonic response, represented by increased activity in hedonic regions such as the nucleus accumbens, in response to particular food images, or a subgroup who demonstrate a lack of functional connectivity between homeostatic and hedonic brain regions in their resting state scans will be identified pre-surgery to have less of a successful long-term response post-surgery.

The hope with this study and potential future studies is to continue to use these brain imaging techniques to explore the differences in both homeostatic and hedonic brain networks in the obese female brain with the goal of further defining differences, individual variations based on a variety of clinical assessments, and the effectiveness of potential treatment options.

References

- 1. Marsland AL, Gianaros PJ, Abramowitch SM, Manuck SB, Hariri AR. Interleukin-6 covaries inversely with hippocampal grey matter volume in middle-aged adults. *Biological psychiatry* 2008;**64:** 484-490.
- 2. Zatorre RJ, Fields RD, Johansen-Berg H. Plasticity in gray and white: neuroimaging changes in brain structure during learning. *Nature neuroscience* 2012;**15:** 528-536.
- 3. Barth C, Villringer A, Sacher J. Sex hormones affect neurotransmitters and shape the adult female brain during hormonal transition periods. *Frontiers in neuroscience* 2015;**9**: 37.

- 4. Pedram P, Wadden D, Amini P, Gulliver W, Randell E, Cahill F, *et al.* Food addiction: its prevalence and significant association with obesity in the general population. *PloS one* 2013;**8:** e74832.
- 5. Avena NM, Rada P, Hoebel BG. Evidence for sugar addiction: behavioral and neurochemical effects of intermittent, excessive sugar intake. *Neuroscience and biobehavioral reviews* 2008;**32:** 20-39.
- 6. Page KA, Chan O, Arora J, Belfort-Deaguiar R, Dzuira J, Roehmholdt B, *et al.* Effects of fructose vs glucose on regional cerebral blood flow in brain regions involved with appetite and reward pathways. *JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association* 2013;**309:** 63-70.
- 7. Wang GJ, Volkow ND, Logan J, Pappas NR, Wong CT, Zhu W, *et al.* Brain dopamine and obesity. *Lancet* 2001;**357:** 354-357.
- 8. Hong LE, Gu H, Yang Y, Ross TJ, Salmeron BJ, Buchholz B, *et al.* Association of nicotine addiction and nicotine's actions with separate cingulate cortex functional circuits. *Archives of general psychiatry* 2009;**66:** 431-441.
- 9. Ma N, Liu Y, Li N, Wang CX, Zhang H, Jiang XF, *et al.* Addiction related alteration in resting-state brain connectivity. *NeuroImage* 2010;**49:** 738-744.
- 10. Cheng Y, Xu J, Nie B, Luo C, Yang T, Li H, *et al.* Abnormal resting-state activities and functional connectivities of the anterior and the posterior cortexes in medication-naive patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder. *PloS one* 2013;**8:** e67478.
- 11. Vilsboll T, Christensen M, Junker AE, Knop FK, Gluud LL. Effects of glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists on weight loss: systematic review and meta-analyses of randomised controlled trials. *BMJ* 2012;**344:** d7771.
- 12. Macconell L, Pencek R, Li Y, Maggs D, Porter L. Exenatide once weekly: sustained improvement in glycemic control and cardiometabolic measures through 3 years. *Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes* 2013;**6**: 31-41.